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China Creative Global Holdings Limited (formerly known as China Creative Home Group Limited) (the 
“Company”) and its subsidiaries (collectively, the “Group” or “China Creative Global”) is principally engaged in 
design, development, manufacture and sales of home decor products and electric fireplaces. The Shares of the 
Company (the “Shares”) was listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited (the “Stock 
Exchange”) in 2013. The Group mainly sells products in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC” or “China”) 
under the “Allen (亞倫)” brand and to overseas customers including the US, Canada, Germany, France and the 
U.K. on original design manufacturing (“ODM”)/original equipment manufacturing (“OEM”) basis. Our home 
decor products include gardening decorations (e.g. fountains, waterfalls and patio furniture such as tables and 
stools) and indoor crafts (e.g. mini-figurines, vases, photo frames and sculptures), which are offered under three 
series: (i) polyresin series; (ii) porcelain series and (iii) inorganic series. Our electric fireplaces are divided into 
two categories: (i) framed electric fireplaces and (ii) non-framed electric fireplaces. Framed electric fireplaces are 
further categorised into three series according to the materials of their frames or mantels: (i) inorganic series; (ii) 
wood series and (iii) natural stone series. 

The Group’s design and technical team consists of more than 90 staff. In 2016, the Group has offered more than 
4,000 pieces of home decor items and 200 models of electric fireplaces. Currently, the Group owns 64 patents 
in the PRC. The “Allen (亞倫)” brand has been recognised as the Wellknown Trademark of the PRC in respect 
of home decor products by the State Administration for Industry and Commerce in the PRC in 2011 and as the 
Famous Trademark of Fujian Province in respect of its electric fireplaces by the Administration for Industry 
and Commerce of Fujian Province in 2012. It was selected in 2011 by the China Association for Engineering 
Construction Standardisation as the only electric fireplace manufacturer in the PRC to be involved in the process 
of developing and compiling the industry regulation standard of electric fireplaces in the PRC in recognition of 
its national market- leading position.

The Group’s current production facilities are located in Luojiang and Quangang in Fujian Province, and Bengbu 
in Anhui Province with a total gross floor area of approximately 145,650 square metres. As of 31 December 2016, 
the Group’s total effective designed annual production capacity was 627,500 units of electric fireplaces and 52,200 
tonnes of polyresin and inorganic home decor products.
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To Our Shareholders,

On behalf of the board of directors of the Company (the “Board”), I am pleased to present the annual report of 
the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 (“year under review”).

In retrospect, the global economy continued to experience uncertainties and adversities in 2016. The PRC, 
although having attained more growth than most major economies, concluded with a GDP of RMB74,412.7 
billion which represents the weakest annual growth rate of 6.7% since the year 1990. It is expected that the global 
economy will take a long route to full recovery, which demonstrates some lingering challenges for businesses. 
Especially, with the PRC government’s economic insight of redirecting the focal point to domestic consumption 
and the service sector, the manufacturing sector is propelled to exploring new market opportunities in both 
domestic and foreign regions. In the face of challenges from all grounds, the Group is greatly determined to pave 
new paths by upgrading the business with elements in respect of high-tech and innovation, preparing itself to best 
seize lucrative opportunities and maintain its market competitiveness.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s revenue amounted to RMB349.7 million, representing a year-
on-year decrease of 72.7%. Loss attributable to owners of the Company amounted to RMB95.5 million (2015: 
profit attributable to owners of RMB299.0 million). Together with the unfavourable operating environment, the 
principal reasons for the loss attributable to owners are heightened costs and expenses, impairment provision 
of property, plant and equipment, losses from investment property values, and the lack of gains from derivative 
instruments.

Electric fireplaces remains the Group’s pivotal line of products as it stands for RMB201.6 million in revenue, 
57.6% of the year’s total. Home decor products remains as another vital line of the business, contributing 
RMB148.1 million of revenue to the Group, as 42.4% of its total.

During the year, the Group marked a milestone in diversifying its product portfolio and launched the latest 
product line of Allen fresh air system in the PRC market, attesting its ample capacity in product innovation and 
development. The fresh air system targets towards higher-end consumers and institutions with a recognised 
concern for air quality of the indoors such as schools, residential and office buildings, elderly homes and medical 
facilities. With its well-established quality and technologies of air purifying products, the Group is one of the 
drafters of the Standard of Fresh Air System for China Housing (中國住宅新風系統標準) and a long-term 
partner with Chinese Academy of Sciences (中國科學院) in the development of air purifying materials, 
technologies and equipment.

E-commerce is undeniably becoming a necessary sales channel for the business due to market trends, hence the 
Group has established sales channels on tubatu.com (土巴兔) and developed its O2O business for “Allen” (亞倫) 
products.

In line with the goal of overseas market expansion, the Group has been engaging in the addition of new 
production facilities. Phase two of facilities in Anhui was put into operation for production of electric fireplaces 
in 2016. Construction of phase three was completed during the year under review. These new facilities altogether 
supply an additional annual production capacity of 200,000 units of electric fireplaces for the Group, widening 
the room to profitable mass production. For the year under review, revenue from overseas markets amounted to 
RMB104.5 million, equal to 29.9% of the Group’s total revenue.
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The Group completed the purchase of 49% stake of Radiant Forever Development Limited by the end of 2016, 
whose wholly-owned subsidiary Changsha Innovation Semiconductor Co. Ltd (長沙創芯集成電路有限公
司) (“Changsha Innovation”) specializing in designing and manufacturing 6-inch wafer – a top-level technique 
amongst the industry in the PRC. It is believed that this sets up a broader base of income for the Group and 
reinforces its integrated circuit related business by adding on professional expertise to the current groundwork 
of research and development, backing its future financial performance and profitability. Also for the year under 
review, the Group started a new Mergers and Acquisition Department to study and acquire high potential 
business targets worldwide which featured with technological innovation, expansion and diversification of its 
business.

PROSPECTS FOR 2017

Looking forward, the Board believes that the year of 2017 channels a journey of change and growth. From its 
economic perspective, the PRC government set out various plans of reform as the country enters an economic 
period of the “new normal”. Domestic consumer spending is expected to be encouraged and concurrently in place 
are incentives and subsidies for the high-tech industry. Thus, the Group envisions 2017 as an exploring field filled 
with both rewarding and challenging encounters. Understanding the importance of business sustainability, the 
Group will carry on the search of household furnishing business opportunities in the overseas markets, as well as 
internally expand and diversify its business model with the pursuit of technological innovation and advancement.
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The Allen fresh air system was launched at the time of growing emphasis of air quality within the domestic 
market. As a product made for the up-and-coming demand of consumers, the Group will constantly conduct 
improvement plans and boost its applicability to a wide range of audience. Considering the relatively quiet 
competition which is distant from e-commerce because of the need of project-based on-site installation, the 
Group is confident in expanding market share of the fresh air system and will retain it as one of the prime 
products of 2017.

The business is moving in a direction of high-tech company by drawing close ties with Changsha Innovation, a 
member of the high-tech industry supported by state policies. The Group projects plans in 2017 for high-tech 
advancement which will give access to professional talents and resources such as research capabilities, plants and 
equipment. Our existing product portfolio including electric fireplaces and the fresh air system will be upgraded 
with high-tech smart features that will also be more environmentally friendly and beneficial to the health of 
consumers. In the long run, there will be other high-tech visions pertaining to projects for 6-inch to 8-inch 
wafer, drones, driverless cars, new material and the high-speed rail. Not only will these forward strides refine the 
technicality of our smart household products, but also the Group’s overall competitiveness and market share.

I believe that the Group is fully prepared to take on the upcoming opportunities and challenges in the context of 
maintaining its existing businesses. With new projects and orientation, the Group will spare no effort in grasping 
market trends and sharpening its competitive edge, in turn optimizing returns for our shareholders.

APPRECIATION

On behalf of the Board, I would like to express our earnest appreciation to customers, bankers, investors and 
business partners for their abiding support and trust to the Group. Meanwhile, I take this opportunity to relay 
our gratitude to the management and all staff members for their contributions to the Group over the past year. 
Hereafter, the Group will explore all avenues and ascend to its best in its existing businesses to yield desirable 
returns for our shareholders.

CHEN Fanglin
Chairman and Executive Director

Hong Kong, 28 March 2017
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INDUSTRY REVIEW

During the year of 2016, global economic and political conditions have posed downward pressure on most 
countries. The PRC’s economic growth continues to slow down, reaching its slowest pace since 1990. As 
described by its officials, the PRC has entered its economical new normal, indicating an even slower pace but an 
increasing per capita income and a growing consumer market.

According to the National Bureau of Statistics of China, per capita disposable income in the PRC in 2016 
was RMB23,821, presenting an increase of 8.4% as compared with that of last year. Per capita consumption 
expenditure also increased 8.9% to RMB17,111. The trends of expenditure structure also showed that people are 
more willing to spend on enhancing their household conditions.

According to a World Health Organization (“WHO”) release on 27 September 2016, a new WHO air quality 
model confirms that 92% of the world’s population lives in places where air quality levels exceed WHO 
limits. Every year, air pollution is causing deaths of millions of people. In the PRC, air pollution has become a 
nationwide concern. On 31 December 2016, 61 Chinese cities announced air pollution alert, opening up the year 
2017 under smog. The worsening air condition has boosted sales of air purifiers in the PRC.

BUSINESS REVIEW

China Creative Global is principally engaged in the business of design, development, manufacture and sales of 
home decor products, electric fireplaces and air purifiers. The Group sells its products domestically in PRC under 
its “Allen” (亞倫) brand and export its products on ODM/OEM basis to countries including the U.S., Canada, 
Germany, France and the U.K..

The revenue of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 decreased by 72.7% to RMB349.7 million from 
RMB 1,281.9 million for the year ended 31 December 2015. The loss attributable to the owners of the Company 
was RMB95.5 million whereas the profit attributable to the owners of the Company of RMB299.0 million was 
recorded for the year ended 31 December 2015. This was mainly due to (1) slowdown of economic growth in the 
PRC; (2) impairment provision of property, plant and equipment; (3) an increase in finance costs; (4) fair value 
loss on investment property; and (5) no fair value gain on derivative instruments was recognized.

Electric fireplaces and air purifiers, and home decor products are the two major segments of the Group, 
respectively accounted for 57.6% and 42.4% of the Group’s revenue for the year ended 31 December 2016, while 
the proportions were 60.2% and 39.8% respectively last year.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, RMB245.2 million (2015: RMB1,038.8 million), or 70.1% (2015: 
81.0%) of the Group’s revenue were generated from PRC market. Revenue from international market amounted 
to RMB104.5 million (2015: RMB243.2 million), taking up 29.9% (2015: 19.0%) of the total revenue.

On 18 November 2016, through a wholly-owned subsidiary, China Prosper Int’l Limited, the Group entered into 
the sale and purchase agreement with an independent third party to purchase 49% of the issued share capital of 
Radiant Forever Development Limited (the “Target Company”), at a cash consideration of HKD205.0 million 
and 50,000,000 ordinary shares of the Company. The transaction was completed on 9 December 2016 and the 
total consideration was HKD236.5 million. The Target Company is an investment holding company, which 
wholly owns Changsha Innovation Semiconductor Co. Ltd (長沙創芯集成電路有限公司), having principal 
business activities as design, manufacturing and sales of integrated circuits in the PRC. The acquisition presents 
a valuable opportunity to broaden the income base of the Group and facilitate the development of the Group’s 
integrated circuit related business, which is expected to give a positive impact to the operations, financial results 
and profitability of the Group in the future.
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BUSINESS REVIEW (Continued)

The Group considers innovation as the core element of its development. The design and technical team consists 
of 91 staff as at 31 December 2016. It launched 2 lines with a total of over 500 new products for the year ended 31 
December 2016.

The Group continues to broaden its income sources by securing a team of e-commerce experts and actively 
expanding its online sales channels on T-mall and Tubatu.com.

PROSPECTS

Given the current economic trends in the PRC, the Group keeps cautious in its future development. Meanwhile, 
riding on the profound history and widely-acknowledged product quality, the Group continues to develop in 
Chinese home furnishing market.

The Group keeps diversifying its business and promoting the development of technology innovation. Further 
than the acquisition of the 49% stake in Changsha Innovation Semiconductor Co. Ltd, the Group set up a Mergers 
and Acquisition Department to search all over the world for targets related to the Group’s expansion.

The Group places priority on the development of its newly launched product line – Allen fresh air system. The 
Group’s fresh air system has 6 main features, which are: (i) highly effective PM2.5 purification; (ii) high energy 
efficiency; (iii) minimizing pollution caused by renovation and risks from viruses and bacteria, (iv) smart system; 
(v) managing airflow to ventilate the whole room, and avoid mildew and bad smell; (vi) no need to open windows 
to circulate air and free consumers from outside noises. Since there are fewer competitors in the fresh air system 
market and it requires project-based on-site installation for fresh air systems thus faces less competition from the 
e-commerce, the Group believes that it can further enlarge the market share and expand fresh air system business.

The Group values its corporate responsibilities as much as its business growth. As one of the drafters of the 
Standard of Fresh Air System for China Housing and a long-term partner with Chinese Academy of Sciences 
(中國科學院) in the development of air purifying materials, technologies and equipment, the Group recently 
participated in one of the charity activities in “China Campus Health Action – Bud Project” (“中國校園健康行
動－蓓蕾工程”) with its cutting-edge air purifying technologies, with an aim to help create healthy environment 
in the schools in key polluted areas in the PRC.

Riding on its rich history, outstanding product development capacity and the reputation of “Allen” (亞倫) brand, 
the Group aims to broaden its income sources by providing elegant electric fireplaces, highly-efficient fresh air 
systems and distinctive home decor products, while developing high-tech and environment-friendly business 
segments.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS

Revenue

Our revenue decreased by RMB932.2 million from RMB1,281.9 million to RMB349.7 million, represented a 
decrease of 72.7% compared with last year. The decrease was mainly driven by the lower market demand.

Revenue analysis by product type is as follows:

2016 2015
% of % of

RMB’000 revenue RMB’000 revenue     

Electric fireplaces
Frame electric fireplaces

– Wood series 112,690 32.2 346,785 27.0
– Natural stone series 1,534 0.4 71,639 5.6
– Inorganic series 36,930 10.6 128,368 10.0

Non-framed electric fireplaces 22,890 6.5 42,317 3.3
Air purifiers 8,118 2.3 169,942 13.2
Others 19,462 5.6 13,094 1.1    

201,624 57.6 772,145 60.2    

Home decor products
– Polyresin series 112,839 32.3 266,356 20.8
– Porcelain series 12,210 3.5 150,804 11.8
– Inorganic series 23,071 6.6 92,621 7.2    

148,120 42.4 509,781 39.8    

349,744 100 1,281,926 100    

Note: Included in sales of porcelain series home decor products are sales of humidifiers of RMB0.3 million (2015: RMB40.1 million).

The decrease in the sales of electric fireplaces and home decor products was primarily due to the decrease in sales 
volume and average selling prices.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Gross Profit And Gross Profit Margin

Our gross profit decreased from RMB473.4 million for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB92.5 million 
for the year ended 31 December 2016, represented a decrease of 80.5% compared with last year mainly due to the 
decrease in sales and gross profit margin.

The gross profit margin decreased from 36.9% for the year ended 31 December 2015 to 26.4% for the year ended 
31 December 2016. The decrease was primarily due to the decrease in average selling prices.

Selling And Distribution Costs

Our selling and distribution costs decreased by RMB24.6 million, or approximately 47.2%, from RMB52.1 million 
for the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB27.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 primarily due to 
decrease in delivery expenses, advertising and promotion expenses, and staff cost.

Administrative Expenses

Our administrative expenses decreased by RMB5.4 million, or approximately 6.4%, from RMB84.9 million for 
the year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB79.5 million for the year ended 31 December 2016. The decrease was 
mainly due to decrease in research and development expenses partly set off by increase in depreciation expenses 
primarily due to the completion of office buildings in Anhui in the second half of 2015 and the increase in staff 
costs due to the general increase in staff wages.

Impairment provision of property, plant and equipment

The Group had property, plant and equipment before impairment provision of approximately RMB428.0 million 
located in Anhui, the PRC. Since the operation in Anhui has been making losses in two consecutive years, 
management has performed an impairment assessment, taking into account the current status of the assets 
and market price/transactions for similar assets. Based on the result of the assessment, carrying amount of the 
property, plant and equipment in Anhui is lower than its recoverable amount, and therefore, an impairment 
provision of RMB54.0 million has been made during the year.

Other Income

Our other income decreased by RMB6.0 million or approximately 56.1%, from RMB10.7 million for the year 
ended 31 December 2015 to RMB4.7 million for the year ended 31 December 2016 primarily due to the decrease 
in rental income and interest income.
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FINANCIAL ANALYSIS (Continued)

Other (Losses)/Gains – Net

Our other losses consists of fair value loss on investment property of RMB12.0 million and foreign exchange loss 
of RMB0.8 million for the year ended 31 December 2016. For the year ended 31 December 2015, the other gains 
mainly consisted of fair value gain on investment property of RMB0.3 million, foreign exchange gain of RMB5.5 
million, and gain upon lapse of warrants of RMB18.0 million.

Finance Costs

Our finance costs increased by RMB12.7 million, or approximately 352.8%, from RMB3.6 million for the year 
ended 31 December 2015 to RMB16.3 million for the year ended 31 December 2016. The increase was mainly due 
to the increase in borrowings and foreign exchange loss arising from borrowings denominated in HKD.

Share of Loss of an Associate

The Group acquired 49% of the entire issued share capital in Radiant Forever Development Limited in December 
2016. Subsequent to the acquisition date, RMB0.5 million loss arising from the associate was shared to the Group.

Income Tax Expenses

Our income tax expenses decreased by RMB66.1 million, or approximately 96.9%, from RMB68.2 million for the 
year ended 31 December 2015 to RMB2.1 million for the year ended 31 December 2016, primarily as a result of 
the decrease in our profit.

(Loss)/profit for the Year Attributable to Owners of the Company

Loss attributable to owners of the Company was RMB95.5 million, for the year ended 31 December 2016 while 
profit attributable to owners of the Company was RMB299.0 million for the year ended 31 December 2015. Basic 
loss per share was RMB5 cents for the year ended 31 December 2016 while basic earnings per share was RMB16 
cents for the year ended 31 December 2015. The decrease was mainly due to the decrease in our gross profit and 
increase in impairment provision of property, plant and equipment.
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CAPITAL STRUCTURE, LIQUIDITY, FINANCIAL AND CAPITAL RESOURCES

In order to achieve better cost control and minimise the costs of funds, the Group’s treasury activities are 
centralised and cash is generally deposited with banks and denominated mostly in RMB, HKD and USD. As at 
31 December 2016, the Group had net current assets of RMB921.3 million (2015: RMB1,040.8 million), of which 
cash and cash equivalents were RMB817.2 million (2015: RMB720.2 million).

The Group principally meets its working capital and other liquidity requirements through a combination of 
operating cash flows, capital contributions and borrowings. As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s borrowings 
amounted to RMB176.1 million (2015: RMB49.0 million) and these borrowings were denominated in HKD and 
RMB. As at 31 December 2016, the effective interest rate on the Group’s bank borrowings was 7.66% (2015: 
6.51%).

2016 2015   

Current ratio(1) 12.8 5.3
Gearing ratio (%)(2) 7.8% 2.1%  

(1) Current ratio is calculated based on our total current assets divided by our total current liabilities.

(2) Gearing ratio calculated based on our total debts (being our borrowings) divided by our total equity.

FOREIGN EXCHANGE RISK

Our functional currency is RMB. Our Group’s foreign exchange risk mainly relate to fluctuations in exchange 
rates of RMB against our bank balances denominated in USD and HKD, trade receivables denominated in USD 
and borrowings denominated in HKD, and these may affect our operation results. Our Group does not have 
a hedging policy. However, our management monitors foreign exchange exposure and will consider hedging 
significant foreign currency exposure should the need arise.

CHARGE ON ASSETS

At 31 December 2016, the Group had pledged its certain property, plant and equipment, land use rights, and 
assets classified as held for sale with net book value of RMB179.2 million mainly for the purpose of securing bank 
borrowings.
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WORKING CAPITAL MANAGEMENT

Our Group recognizes the importance of a strong and stable cash flows from operations to stay competitive and 
capture every business opportunity.

Our net current assets decreased from RMB1,040.8 million as at 31 December 2015 to RMB921.3 million as at 
31 December 2016, representing an decrease of RMB119.5 million or 11.5%. The decrease in working capital is 
mainly a result of the decrease in trade receivables, and partly set off by increase in cash and cash equivalents, and 
the decrease in trade and other payables.

USE OF PROCEEDS FROM GLOBAL OFFERING

The shares of the Company were listed on the Main Board of the Stock Exchange on 20 December 2013. Net 
proceeds from the global offering were approximately HKD597.2 million (after deducting the underwriting 
commission and relevant expenses). As at 31 December 2016, the unused proceeds were deposited in licensed 
banks in the PRC.

Percentage to 
Total Amount

Net 
Proceeds

Utilised 
Amount 
as at 31 

December 
2016

Unutilised 
Amount 

as at 
31 December 

2016
HKD’ million HKD’ million HKD’ million     

Establishing new production facilities 53.7% 320.7 320.7 –
Establishing seven creative home 

furnishing concept shops 16.0% 95.6 36.7 58.9
Expanding overseas sales network 

under our own brand overseas 7.3% 43.6 11.2 32.4
Own-brand promotion 7.0% 41.8 41.8 –
Increasing and enhancing our 

research and development activities 6.0% 35.8 35.8 –
General working capital 10.0% 59.7 59.7 –     

597.2 505.9 91.3     
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EMPLOYEES AND EMOLUMENTS

As at 31 December 2016, we employed a total of 912 full time employees in the PRC and Hong Kong which 
included management staff, product designers, technicians, salespersons and workers. For the year ended 
31 December 2016, the Group’s total expenses on the remuneration of employees was RMB79.2 million, 
representing 22.7% of the revenue of the Group.

Our emolument policies are formulated based on the performance of individual employee which will be 
reviewed periodically. Apart from the provident fund scheme (operation in accordance with the provisions of the 
Mandatory Provident Fund Schemes Ordinance for Hong Kong employees) or social insurance fund (including 
retirement pension insurance, medical insurance, unemployment insurance, injury insurance and maternity 
insurance for the PRC employees), discretionary bonuses and employee share options are also awarded to 
employees according to the assessment of individual performance. Since the adoption of the share option scheme 
on 2 December 2013 and up to 31 December 2016, no options have been granted.

CAPITAL EXPENDITURE

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the capital expenditure of the Group amounted to RMB18.1 million. It was 
mainly addition to property, plant and equipment in the PRC.

MATERIAL ACQUISITION AND DISPOSALS AND SIGNIFICANT INVESTMENTS

In November 2016, the Group had entered into an agreement to acquire 49% of the entire issued share capital in 
Radiant Forever Development Limited, which through its subsidiary, which is engaged in design, manufacturing 
and sales of integrated circuits in the PRC, from an independent third party. The transaction was completed in 
December 2016.

Saved as disclosed above, the Group did not have any material investments or capital assets, or material 
acquisitions or disposals of subsidiaries or significant investments for the year ended 31 December 2016.

CONTINGENT LIABILITIES

As at 31 December 2016, the Group did not have any significant contingent liabilities.
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We are committed to achieving and maintaining high standards of corporate governance, in compliance with the 
principles set out in the Corporate Governance Code (the “Corporate Governance Code”) contained in Appendix 
14 to the Rules Governing the Listing of Securities (the “Listing Rules”) on the Stock Exchange from time to time.

The Company has adopted all the requirements of the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code. 
During the year, the Company has complied with all the code provisions of the Corporate Governance Code.

ROLE OF THE BOARD

The Board oversees the management of the business and affairs of the Company. The Directors are accountable 
for making decisions objectively in the best interest of the shareholders as a whole.

The Board is responsible for making decisions on all major aspects of the Company’s affairs, including the 
approval and monitoring of key policy matters, overall strategies, business plans and annual budgets, internal 
control and risk management systems, material transactions, major capital expenditure, appointment of 
Directors and other significant financial and operational matters.

The Board may delegate aspects of its management and administration functions to the management. In 
particular, the day-to-day management of the Company is delegated to the executive Directors of the Group and 
our management team.

BOARD COMPOSITION

The Company has throughout the year met the requirements of the Listing Rules relating to the appointment of at 
least three independent non-executive Directors with at least one independent non-executive Director possessing 
appropriate professional qualifications, and accounting or related financial management expertise. At all times 
during the year, the independent non-executive Directors represent at least one-third of the Board.

Throughout the year and up to the date of this report, the composition of the Board was as follows:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chen Fanglin (Chairman)
Mr. Chen Hongming
Mr. Shen Jianzhong
Mr. Chen Jiang (Appointed on 16 February 2017)
Mr. Xu Qiang (Appointed on 16 February 2017)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Dai Jianping
Mr. Ng Wing Keung
Ms. Sun Kam Ching

The Board members have no financial, business, family or other material/relevant relationships with each other.
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BOARD COMPOSITION (Continued)

A description of the Directors is set out in the section headed “Board of Directors and Senior Management” in 
this annual report.

The Board is expected to meet regularly and at least four times a year. The Directors have full access to 
information on the Group and independent professional advice at all times whenever deemed necessary by the 
Directors.

With respect to regular meetings of the Board, the Directors will be given written notice of the meeting at least 
14 days in advance and an agenda with supporting Board papers no less than three days prior to the meeting. 
For other meetings, the Directors are given as much notice as is reasonable and practicable in the circumstances. 
Minutes of board meetings and meetings of board committees are kept by the company secretary of the Company 
and open for inspection at any reasonable time or reasonable notice by any Director.

The Board meets regularly to discuss the overall strategy as well as the operation and financial performance of the 
Group, and to review and approve the Group’s annual and interim results. During the year, four Board meetings 
and one general meeting were held and attendance of each Director at the Board meetings and the general 
meeting is set out as follows:

Number of 
Board meetings 

attended/held 

Number of 
General meetings 

attended/held   

Executive Directors:
Mr. Chen Fanglin (Chairman) 4/4 1/1
Mr. Chen Hongming 4/4 1/1
Mr. Shen Jianzhong 4/4 1/1
Mr. Chen Jiang N/A N/A
Mr. Xu Qiang N/A N/A

Independent non-executive Directors:
Mr. Dai Jianping 4/4 1/1
Mr. Ng Wing Keung 4/4 1/1
Ms. Sun Kam Ching 4/4 1/1

CHAIRMAN AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER

The chairman of the Company, Mr. Chen Fanglin, leads the Board in the determination of the strategy of the 
Group and in the achievement of its objectives. He is responsible for organising the business of the Board, 
ensuring its effectiveness and setting its agenda but not involved in the day-to-day business of the Group.

The Company at present does not have a Chief Executive Officer. Nevertheless, the duties and responsibilities of 
the Chief Executive Officer of daily operations of the Group are carried out by the executive Directors, other than 
the Chairman, and they are accountable to the Board for the financial and operational performance of the Group.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

The independent non-executive Directors are highly skilled professionals with a broad range of expertise and 
experience in the fields of accounting, finance and business. Their skills, expertise and number in the Board 
ensure that strong independent views and judgement are brought in the Board’s deliberations and that such views 
and judgement carry weight in the Board’s decision-making process. Their presence and participation also enable 
the Board to maintain high standards of compliance in financial and other mandatory reporting requirements, 
and provide adequate checks and balances to safeguard the interests of shareholders of the Company and the 
Company.

Each independent non-executive Director gives the Company an annual confirmation of his independence. The 
Company considers such Directors to be independent under the guidelines set out in Rule 3.13 of the Listing 
Rules.

Each Director, upon reasonable request, is given access to independent professional advice in circumstances 
he may deem appropriate and necessary for the discharge of his duties to the Company, at the expense of the 
Company.

APPOINTMENTS, RE-ELECTION AND ROTATION OF DIRECTORS

Pursuant to the articles of association of the Company (the “Articles”), the Directors shall have the power from 
time to time and at any time to appoint any person as a Director either to fill a casual vacancy on the Board or 
as an addition to the existing Board. Any Director appointed by the Board to fill a casual vacancy shall hold 
office until the first general meeting after his appointment and be subject to re-election at such meeting and any 
Director appointed by the Board as an addition to the existing Board shall hold office only until the next following 
annual general meeting of the Company and shall then be eligible for re-election.

According to the Articles and in the opinion of the Board, the Directors, namely Mr. Chen Fanglin, Mr. Chen 
Jiang, Mr. Xu Qiang and Mr. Dai Jianping will retire at the forthcoming annual general meeting. All of the above 
retiring Directors, being eligible, will offer themselves for re-election at the same meeting.

Where vacancies arise at the Board, candidates will be proposed and put forward to the Board by the Nomination 
Committee (as defined below) as set out below under the section headed “Nomination Committee”.
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TRAINING, INDUCTION AND CONTINUING DEVELOPMENT OF DIRECTORS

Each newly appointed Director receives comprehensive, formal and tailored induction on the first occasion of 
his/her appointment so as to ensure that he/she has appropriate understanding of the business and operations of 
the Company and that he/she is fully aware of his/her responsibilities and obligations under the Listing Rules and 
relevant regulatory requirements.

According to the code provision A.6.5 of the Corporate Governance Code, all Directors should participate in 
continuous professional development to develop and refresh their knowledge and skills to ensure that their 
contribution to the Board remains informed and relevant. The Company should be responsible for arranging 
and funding suitable training, as well as placing an appropriate emphasis on the roles, functions and duties of the 
Directors.

The Directors confirm that they have complied with the relevant code provision. The Company had received 
from each of the Directors the record of training the Directors received.

DIRECTORS’ SECURITIES TRANSACTIONS

The Company has adopted the Model Code for Securities Transactions by Directors of Listed Issuers contained 
in Appendix 10 to the Listing Rules (the “Model Code”) as its own code of conduct for dealing in securities of the 
Company by the Directors.

Specific enquiries have been made with all Directors, and all Directors confirmed in writing that they have 
complied with the required standards set out in the Model Code regarding their securities transactions for the 
year.

BOARD COMMITTEES

The Company has established a remuneration committee (the “Remuneration Committee”), an audit committee 
(the “Audit Committee”) and a nomination committee (the “Nomination Committee”), for overseeing particular 
aspects of the Company’s affairs.

Remuneration Committee

The Remuneration Committee comprises all independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Dai Jianping, 
Mr. Ng Wing Keung, and Ms. Sun Kam Ching, and an executive Director, Mr. Shen Jianzhong. Ms. Sun Kam 
Ching is the chairman of the Remuneration Committee.

The major duties of the Remuneration Committee are as follows:

(a) to make recommendations to the Board on the Company’s policy and structure for all Directors’ and senior 
management’s remuneration and on the establishment of a formal and transparent procedure for developing 
remuneration policy;

(b) to determine, with delegated responsibility, the remuneration packages of individual executive Directors and 
senior management, including benefits in kind, pension rights and compensation payments, including any 
compensation payable for loss or termination of their office or appointment;



CHINA CREATIVE GLOBAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2016 21

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE REPORT

BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Remuneration Committee (Continued)

(c) to make recommendations to the Board of the remuneration of non-executive Directors;

(d) to consider salaries paid by comparable companies, time commitment and responsibilities and employment 
conditions elsewhere in the Group;

(e) to review and approve management’s remuneration proposals by reference to the Board’s corporate goals 
and objectives;

(f) to review and approve compensation payable to the executive Directors and senior management for any loss 
or termination of office or appointment to ensure that it is consistent with contractual terms and is otherwise 
fair and not excessive;

(g) to review and approve compensation arrangements relating to dismissal or removal of Directors for 
misconduct to ensure that they are consistent with contractual terms and are otherwise reasonable and 
appropriate; and

(h) to ensure that no Director or any of his associates is involved in deciding his own remuneration.

The Remuneration Committee’s specific terms of reference are available on request to any shareholder of the 
Company and are posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website, www.cchome.hk.

During the year, the Remuneration Committee convened one meeting:

Number of 
meetings 

attended/held
Attendance rate 

(%)   

Ms. Sun Kam Ching (Chairman) 1/1 100%
Mr. Dai Jianping 1/1 100%
Mr. Ng Wing Keung 1/1 100%
Mr. Shen Jianzhong 1/1 100%

During the year, the Remuneration Committee has reviewed the remuneration policy and structure of the 
executive Directors and senior management of the Company, and offered advice on the same to the Board. The 
Remuneration Committee also resolved to make recommendations to the Board on the remuneration packages 
of individual executive Directors and senior management.

Audit Committee

The Audit Committee comprises all independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Dai Jianping, Mr. Ng 
Wing Keung, and Ms. Sun Kam Ching. Mr. Ng Wing Keung is the chairman of the Audit Committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

Under its terms of reference, the Audit Committee shall assist the Board in fulfilling its corporate governance 
and oversight responsibilities in relation to financial reporting, internal control structure, risk management 
systems and internal and external audit functions. The Audit Committee is further authorised by the Board to 
investigate any activity within its terms of reference, and is tasked with recommending to the Board appropriate 
actions emanating from such investigations. The Audit Committee has unrestricted access to personnel records, 
internal and external auditors, risk assessment and assurance and senior management, as may be appropriate in 
the discharge of its functions.

During the year, the Audit Committee discharged its responsibilities by:

(1) making recommendations to the Board on the reappointment of the external auditor and approval of the 
remuneration and terms of engagement of the external auditor;

(2) monitoring the external auditor’s independence and objectivity and the effectiveness of the audit process in 
accordance with applicable standard, and discussing with the external auditor the nature and scope of the 
audit and reporting obligations;

(3) implementing the Company’s policy on the engagement of an external auditor to supply non-audit services;

(4) reviewing, and monitoring the integrity of, the financial statements of the Company to ensure that the 
information presents a true and balanced assessment of the Company’s financial position;

(5) reviewing the Company’s financial controls, and unless expressly addressed by a separate Board risk 
committee, or by the Board itself, reviewing internal control and risk management systems to ensure that 
management has discharged its duty to have effective internal control and risk management systems;

(6) considering major investigation findings on risk management and internal control matters as delegated by 
the Board or on its own initiative and management’s response to these findings;

(7) where an internal audit function exists, reviewing the internal audit programme, ensuring co-ordination 
between the internal and external auditors, and ensuring that the internal audit function is adequately 
resourced and has appropriate standing within the Company, and reviewing and monitoring its 
effectiveness;

(8) reviewing the Company’s financial and accounting policies and practices;

(9) reviewing the external auditor’s management letter, material queries raised by the external auditor to the 
management, if any, in respect of the accounting records, financial accounts or systems of control and the 
management’s response to such queries; and

(10) reporting to the Board on the matters set out in the Corporate Governance Code on the Audit Committee.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Audit Committee (Continued)

The Audit Committee is authorised by the Board to obtain external legal or other independent professional 
advice and to secure the attendance of outsiders with relevant experience and expertise if it considers necessary 
in the performance of its functions. The Audit Committee is provided with sufficient resources by the Company 
to discharge its duties. The Audit Committee’s specific terms of reference are available on request to any 
shareholder of the Company and are posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website, 
www.cchome.hk. 

During the year, the Audit Committee convened two meetings:

Number of 
meetings 

attended/held
Attendance rate 

(%)   

Mr. Ng Wing Keung (Chairman) 2/2 100% 
Mr. Dai Jianping 2/2 100%
Ms. Sun Kam Ching 2/2 100%

During the year and up to the date of this report, the Audit Committee together with management has reviewed 
the Corporate Governance Code, the accounting principles and practices adopted by the Group and discussed 
the Group’s internal control and financial reporting matters, including a review of the annual results for the year 
ended 31 December 2016 and the interim results, with recommendation to the Board for approval. The Audit 
Committee has also recommended to the Board that, subject to shareholders’ approval at the forthcoming annual 
general meeting, PricewaterhouseCoopers be re-appointed as the external auditors of the Company.

Nomination Committee

The Nomination Committee comprises all independent non-executive Directors, namely, Mr. Dai Jianping, Mr. 
Ng Wing Keung, and Ms. Sun Kam Ching, and an executive Director, Mr. Shen Jianzhong. Mr. Dai Jianping is the 
chairman of the Nomination Committee.

The primary duties of the Nomination Committee are (among other things) to make recommendations to the 
Board on appointment of Directors and succession planning for Directors.

Where vacancy on the Board exists, the Nomination Committee will carry out a selection process by making 
reference to the skills, experience, professional knowledge, personal integrity and time commitments of the 
proposed candidates, the Company’s needs and other relevant statutory requirements and regulations, and select 
or make recommendations to the Board on the selection of candidates for directorship.

The Nomination Committee’s specific terms of reference are available on request to any shareholder of the 
Company and are posted on the Stock Exchange’s website and the Company’s website, www.cchome.hk.
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BOARD COMMITTEES (Continued)

Nomination Committee (Continued)

During the year, the Nomination Committee convened one meeting:

Number of 
meetings 

attended/held
Attendance rate 

(%)   

Mr. Dai Jianping (Chairman) 1/1 100%
Mr. Ng Wing Keung 1/1 100%
Ms. Sun Kam Ching 1/1 100%
Mr. Shen Jianzhong 1/1 100%

During the year, the Nomination Committee has reviewed the structure, size and composition (including 
the skills, knowledge and experience) of the Board, conducted performance evaluations to assess whether the 
independent non-executive Directors have spent enough time in fulfilling their duties, assessed the independence 
of independent non-executive Directors, and had been keeping under review the leadership needs of the 
organisation, both executive and non-executive, with a view to ensuring the continued ability of the organisation 
to compete effectively in the marketplace. The Nomination Committee has also adopted the following diversity 
policy on the Board:

We embrace and encourage our employees’ differences in age, color, disability, ethnicity, family or marital 
status, gender identity or expression, language, national origin, physical and mental ability, political affiliation, 
race, religion, sexual orientation, socio-economic status, veteran status, and other characteristics that make our 
Directors unique.

CORPORATE GOVERNANCE

The Board has carried out its duties and responsibilities as set out in code provision D.3 in the Corporate 
Governance Code (“Code Provisions”), including the development of policies and practices on corporate 
governance, monitoring the training and continuous professional development of Directors and senior 
management, as well as reviewing the compliance with the Corporate Governance Code, disclosure in this report 
and legal and regulatory requirements of the Group. During the year, the Company had complied with the Code 
Provisions.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING, RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL AUDIT

Financial reporting

The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the preparation of the financial statements of the Company 
to ensure that these financial statements give a true and fair presentation in accordance with the Hong Kong 
Financial Reporting Standards.

The statement by the auditor about their reporting responsibilities is set out in the independent auditor’s report 
on pages 41 to 45.

The Directors are not aware of any material uncertainties relating to events or conditions that may cast significant 
doubt upon the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern.

Risk management and Internal control

The Board has the overall responsibility for evaluating and determining the nature and extent of the risks 
it is willing to take in achieving the Group’s strategic objectives, and maintaining sound and effective risk 
management and internal control systems (including reviewing their effectiveness) to safeguard Shareholders’ 
investment and the Group’s assets.

The internal control system of the Group is designed for identifying and managing risks that are significant to 
the fulfilment of the Group’s business objectives. The Group’s management continues to allocate resources for 
an internal control and risk management system compatible with the Committee of Sponsoring Organisations 
of the Treadway Commission (“COSO”) framework to provide reasonable, though not absolute, assurance 
against material misstatement or loss and to manage rather than eliminate the risk of failure to achieve business 
objectives. 

Through the Audit Committee, the Board continues to review the effectiveness of risk management and internal 
control systems which include financial, operational, compliance, risk identification and assessment and risk 
response implementation controls. This process consists of (i) assessing such systems by the Group’s internal 
audit function; (ii) operational management’s assurance of their maintenance of effective risk management 
systems and internal controls; and (iii) identifying control issues by the external auditor during statutory audit. 
The Audit Committee reviews the adequacy of resources, qualifications, experiences and training requirements 
of staff responsible for accounting, financial reporting, treasury, financial analysis and internal audit functions. 
Review of the effectiveness of the risk management and internal control system has been conducted by 
management who provides the confirmation to the Board through the Audit Committee.

The Group also has an internal audit function to review risk management and internal control regularly by (i) 
evaluating the control environment and risk identification and assessment processes; (ii) assessing the adequacy 
of risk response measures and internal controls; and (iii) testing the implementation of such measures and the 
functioning of key controls through audit sampling.
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FINANCIAL REPORTING, RISK MANAGEMENT AND INTERNAL AUDIT (Continued)

Risk management and Internal control (Continued)

The Group is fully aware of its obligations under the Listing Rules and the Securities and Futures Ordinance, 
which has established the internal policy to regulate the handling and dissemination of inside information. The 
Group conducts its affairs with close regard to the disclosure requirement under the Listing Rules as well as 
the “Guidelines on Disclosure of Inside Information” published by the Securities and Future Commission. The 
internal policy is updated whenever required and adopted accordingly to guide its stakeholder communications 
and the determination of inside information in order to ensure consistent and timely disclosure.

The Group has established an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant risks 
faced, including strategic planning, corporate governance, financial reporting, core business processes, and 
compliance and risk management. Review of the significant risks faced has been conducted to ensure the 
effectiveness and adequacy of the risk management and internal control system for the year ended 31 December 
2016.

For the year under review, the Board considers that the risk management and internal control systems of the 
Group are adequate and effective and the Company has complied with the relevant code provisions in the 
Corporate Governance Code on internal control.

In the meeting held on 28 March 2017, the Audit Committee has also reviewed and considered the adequacy of 
resources, staff qualifications and experience, training programmes and budget of the Company’s accounting and 
financial reporting function. The findings of the Audit Committee have been reported to the Board.

Independent auditor

The Audit Committee reviews and monitors the independent auditor’s independence, objectivity and 
effectiveness of the audit process. It receives each year letter from the independent auditor confirming their 
independence and objectivity and holds meetings with representatives of the independent auditor to consider the 
scope of its audit, approve its fees, and the scope and appropriateness of non-audit services, if any, to be provided 
by it. The Audit Committee also makes recommendations to the Board on the appointment and retention of the 
independent auditor.

The remuneration paid or payable to the independent auditor of the Company in respect of the audit services 
for the year ended 31 December 2016 amounted to approximately RMB3.4 million. The remuneration paid or 
payable to the independent auditor of the Company in respect of other non-audit services for the year ended 31 
December 2016 amounted to approximately RMB0.4 million.

COMPANY SECRETARY

The company secretary of the Company, Mr. Hui Hung Kwan, is a full-time employee of the Group. Please refer 
to his biographical details as set out on page 40 of this annual report.
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RIGHTS OF SHAREHOLDERS TO CONVENE AN EXTRAORDINARY GENERAL 
MEETING

Pursuant to article 58 of the Articles, shareholders holding at the date of deposit of the requisition not less than 
one- tenth of the paid up capital of the Company carrying the right of voting at general meetings of the Company 
shall at all times have the right, by written requisition to the Board or the company secretary of the Company, to 
require an extraordinary general meeting to be called by the Board for the transaction of any business specified 
in such requisition; and such meeting shall be held within two months after the deposit of such requisition. If 
within 21 days of such deposit the Board fails to proceed to convene such meeting the requisitionist(s) himself 
(themselves) may do so in the same manner, and all reasonable expenses incurred by the requisitionist(s) as a 
result of the failure of the Board shall be reimbursed to the requisitionist(s) by the Company.

SENDING ENQUIRIES TO THE BOARD AND PROCEDURES FOR PUTTING 
FORWARD PROPOSALS AT SHAREHOLDERS’ MEETINGS

Shareholders or investors can contact the Company in the following ways to make enquiry or to provide 
suggestions:

Contact Person: Mr. Hui Hung Kwan, Company Secretary
Postal Address: Room 913, China Merchants Tower, 168–200 Connaught Road Central, 

Sheung Wan, Hong Kong

To put forward proposals at a general meeting, the shareholders should submit a written notice of those proposals 
with detailed contact information to the company secretary at the Company’s principal place of business stated 
above.

COMMUNICATIONS WITH SHAREHOLDERS

In every general meeting, in respect of each substantially separate issue, a separate resolution would be proposed 
by the Chairman of that meeting.

The Board and senior management maintain a continuing dialogue with the Company’s shareholders and 
investors through various channels including the Company’s annual general meeting. The Chairman, other 
members of the Board and external auditors attend the annual general meeting. The Directors answer questions 
raised by the shareholders on the performance of the Group. Our Company’s website which contains corporate 
information, annual reports, announcements and circulars issued by the Company as well as the recent 
developments of the Group enables the Company’s shareholders to have a timely and updated information of the 
Group.
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The Directors have pleasure in submitting their annual report together with the audited financial statements for 
the year ended 31 December 2016.

PRINCIPAL ACTIVITIES

The principal activity of Company is investment holding and the principal activities of its subsidiaries are set out 
in Note 29 to the financial statements.

RESULTS AND APPROPRIATIONS

Results of the Group for the year ended 31 December 2016 are set out in the consolidated statement of 
comprehensive income on page 46.

The Board does not recommend a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2016.

FINANCIAL SUMMARY

A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the last five financial years is set out on 
page 108 of this annual report.

SHARE CAPITAL

On 9 December 2016, the Company allotted and issued 50,000,000 new shares in partial satisfaction of the 
consideration for the acquisition of 49% of the entire issued share capital in Radiant Forever Development 
Limited. The remaining consideration was satisfied by cash. The closing price of the Company’s share on 9 
December 2016 was HKD0.63 per share.

Details of the movements in share capital of the Company in the year ended 31 December 2016 are set out in Note 
24 to the financial statements.

DISTRIBUTABLE RESERVES

The reserves available for distribution to shareholders consist of share premium and retained earnings. As of 31 
December 2016, the Company had an aggregate share premium and retained earnings of RMB710,291,000 which 
are available for distribution to the shareholders. For the year ended 31 December 2016, no dividend has been 
proposed.

PRE-EMPTIVE RIGHTS

There are no provisions for pre-emptive rights under the Articles or applicable laws of the Cayman Islands where 
the Company was incorporated.
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PRINCIPAL PROPERTY

Details of the principal property held for investment purpose are set out below:

Location Existing use Lease term   

232 Xingxian Road, Licheng District, Quanzhou, 
Fujian Province, PRC

Rental Medium term

BANK BORROWINGS

Details of the Group’s bank borrowings are set out in Note 27 to the financial statements. Bank borrowings 
repayable within one year or on demand are classified as current liabilities in the financial statements.

MAJOR CUSTOMERS AND SUPPLIERS

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s five largest customers accounted for approximately 29.9% 
of the Group’s total revenue and the Group’s largest customer for the year accounted for approximately 7.0% of 
the Group’s total revenue. The Group’s five largest suppliers accounted for approximately 28.3% of the Group’s 
total purchases, while the largest supplier for the year accounted for approximately 10.3% of the Group’s total 
purchases.

To the knowledge of the Directors, none of the Directors or their respective associates or any of the shareholders 
of the Company who owns more than 5% of the Company’s issued share capital has any interest in any of the 
Group’s five largest customers or suppliers.

REMUNERATION POLICY AND EMPLOYEES

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had 912 employees in total. The table below shows a breakdown of the 
Group’s employees by their responsibilities:

Department
Number of 
employees  

Management 16
Production 625
Quality assurance 24
General and administration 89
Purchase and logistics 12
Design and technical 91
Sales and marketing 55 

Total 912 

The remuneration policy (which includes the payment of the emoluments to the employees) of the employees of 
the Group is set up by the Remuneration Committee on the basis of the employees’ qualifications, experiences, 
job nature, performance and market condition. Details of the staff cost, remuneration of key management 
and the Directors are set out in Notes 9, 32 and 34 respectively to the financial statements, having regard to 
the Company’s operating results, individual performance of the senior management and the Directors and 
comparable market statistics.
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REMUNERATION POLICY AND EMPLOYEES (Continued)

Pursuant to the code provision B1.5 of the Corporate Governance Code, the remuneration of the members of the 
key management by band for the year is set out below:

Remuneration bands
Number of 

persons  

Nil to RMB1,000,000 7
RMB1,000,001 to RMB1,500,000 2
RMB1,500,001 to RMB2,000,000 1 

10 

The Group has established various welfare plans including the provision of pension funds, medical insurance, 
unemployment insurance and other relevant insurance for employees who are employed by the Group pursuant 
to the rules and regulations of the PRC and the existing policy requirements of the local government. The Group 
also maintains the employee short-term health insurance and unforeseen injury insurance. In addition, the 
Group provides staff quarters to its employees.

Directors and qualified employees of the Company may be granted share options to subscribe for shares in the 
Company in accordance with the terms and conditions of the Share Option Scheme (as defined below).

DIRECTORS

The Directors during the year and up to the date of this report were:

Executive Directors:

Mr. Chen Fanglin (Chairman)
Mr. Chen Hongming
Mr. Shen Jianzhong
Mr. Chen Jiang (Appointed on 16 February 2017)
Mr. Xu Qiang (Appointed on 16 February 2017)

Independent non-executive Directors:

Mr. Dai Jianping
Mr. Ng Wing Keung
Ms. Sun Kam Ching

In accordance with the Articles, Mr. Chen Fenglin, Mr. Chen Jiang, Mr. Xu Qiang and Mr. Dai Jianping retire at 
the forthcoming annual general meeting but, being eligible, offers themselves for re-election.

Mr. Dai Jianping, Mr. Ng Wing Keung and Ms. Sun Kam Ching are independent non-executive Directors and 
were appointed for a three-year term expiring on 30 November 2019.
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DIRECTORS’ SERVICES CONTRACTS

Each of the executive Directors, Mr. Chen Fanglin, Mr. Chen Hongming and Mr. Shen Jianzhong, and each 
of the executive Directors, Mr. Chen Jiang and Mr. Xu Qiang, has entered into a service contract with the 
Company for a term of three years commencing from 20 December 2016, and 16 February 2017 respectively, 
which may be terminated by not less than three months’ notice in writing served by either party on the other. 
Each of the independent non-executive Directors have been appointed for a term of three years commencing 
from 1 December 2016. None of the Directors has entered into a service contract with any member of the Group 
which is not determinable by the Group within one year without payment of compensation (other than statutory 
compensation).

BIOGRAPHICAL DETAILS OF DIRECTORS AND SENIOR MANAGEMENT

The biographical details of Directors and senior management are set out on pages 37 to 40.

DIRECTORS’ MATERIAL INTERESTS IN TRANSACTIONS, ARRANGEMENTS 
AND CONTRACTS THAT ARE SIGNIFICANT IN ELATION TO THE COMPANY’S 
BUSINESS

No transactions, arrangements and contracts of significance in relation to the Group’s business to which the 
Company’s subsidiaries was a party and in which a director of the Company and the director’s connected party 
had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, subsisted at the end of he year or at any time during the 
year.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS IN SHARES, UNDERLYING 
SHARES AND DEBENTURES

As at 31 December 2016, the interests and short positions of the Directors of the Company in the Shares, 
underlying Shares and debentures of the Company and its associated corporations (within the meaning of Part 
XV of the Securities and Futures Ordinance (“SFO”)) which would have to be notified to the Company and the 
Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions 
which he is taken or deemed to have under such provisions of the SFO) or which will be required, pursuant to 
section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in the register referred to therein or which will be required to be notified 
to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to the Model Code will be as follows:

Name of Director Capacity/Nature of interest
Number of 

Shares

Approximate 
Percentage of 
Shareholding 

Interest (%)    

Mr. Chen Fanglin Interest in controlled corporation/
Long position (Note 1)

1,061,271,180 52.28%

Beneficial owner/Long position 166,000 0.01%
Interest of spouse/Long position 

(Note 2)
15,386,000 0.76%

  

1,076,823,180 53.05%  

Note 1: Mr. Chen Fanglin is deemed to be interested in the Shares held by China Wisdom Asia Limited in which Central Profit Group Limited 
holds entire interests. Central Profit Group Limited is his wholly-owned company. The details are set out as below:

Name of director
Name of 
associated corporation

Capacity/
Nature of interest

Number 
of Shares

Approximate 
Percentage of 
Shareholding 

Interest (%)     

Mr. Chen Fanglin China Wisdom 
Asia Limited

Interest in controlled 
corporation

50,000 shares of
US$1.00 each

100%

Mr. Chen Fanglin Central Profit Group 
Limited

Beneficial owner one share of
US$1.00

100%

Note 2: Chen Fanglin is the spouse of Chen Xiangqun and he is deemed to be interested in the Shares interested by Chen Xiangqun.

Save as disclosed above, none of the Directors of the Company had interests or short positions in the Shares, 
underlying Shares of equity derivatives or debentures of the Company or any associated corporation defined 
under the SFO which would have to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange pursuant to Divisions 7 
and 8 of Part XV of the SFO (including interests and short positions which he is taken or deemed to have under 
such provisions of the SFO) or which will be required, pursuant to section 352 of the SFO, to be recorded in 
the register referred to therein or which will be required to be notified to the Company and the Stock Exchange 
pursuant to the Model Code as at 31 December 2016.
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DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN CONTRACTS OF SIGNIFICANCE

No contracts of significance to which the Company, its holding companies, or any of its subsidiaries was a party 
and in which a Director had a material interest, whether directly or indirectly, existed at the end of the year.

MANAGEMENT CONTRACTS

No contracts concerning the management and administration of the whole or any substantial part of the business 
of the Company were entered into or existed during the year.

DIRECTORS’ INTERESTS IN COMPETING BUSINESSES

None of the Directors or their respective associates has any competing interests which need to be disclosed 
pursuant to Rule 8.10 of the Listing Rules.

INTERESTS AND SHORT POSITIONS OF THE SUBSTANTIAL SHAREHOLDERS 
IN SHARES AND UNDERLYING SHARES OF THE COMPANY

As at 31 December 2016, the following persons (other than a Director of the Company), who had interests or 
short positions in the shares or the underlying shares which would fall to be disclosed under the provisions of 
Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or which would be required, pursuant to Section 336 of the SFO, to be 
entered in the register referred to therein, were as follows:

Name Capacity/Nature of interest
Number of 

Shares

Approximate 
Percentage of 
Shareholding 

Interest (%)    

China Wisdom Asia Limited Beneficial owner/
Long position (Note 1)

1,061,271,180 52.28

Central Profit Group Limited Interest in controlled corporation/
Long position (Note 1)

1,061,271,180 52.28

Chen Xiangqun Interest of spouse/
Long position (Note 2)

1,061,437,180 52.29

Beneficial owner 15,386,000 0.76

Notes:

1. The entire issued share capital of China Wisdom Asia Limited is held by Central Profit Group Limited, which is deemed to be interested 
in the Shares held by China Wisdom Asia Limited.

2. Chen Xiangqun is the spouse of Chen Fanglin and she is deemed to be interested in the Shares interested by Chen Fanglin.

Save as disclosed above, the Directors are not aware of any person, other than the Directors whose interests are set 
out in the section “Directors’ Interests and Short Positions in Shares, Underlying Shares and Debentures” above, 
who had an interest or short positions in the shares or underlying shares that were required to be disclosed under 
the provisions of Divisions 2 and 3 of Part XV of the SFO, or recorded pursuant to Section 336 of Part XV of the 
SFO as of 31 December 2016.
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SHARE OPTION SCHEME

Pursuant to a resolution passed by all the shareholders on 2 December 2013, the Company has conditionally 
adopted the share option scheme (the “Share Option Scheme”) for the purpose of recognising and acknowledging 
the contributions the eligible participants had or may have made to the Group. The Board may, at its discretion, 
grant options pursuant to the Share Option Scheme to the Directors (including executive Directors and 
independent non-executive Directors), the Directors of the Company’s subsidiaries and employees of the Group 
and any other persons (including consultants or advisers) whom the Board considers, in its absolute discretion, 
have contributed or will contribute to the Group. The Directors were authorised to grant options to subscribe 
for shares of the Company and to allot, issue and deal with the shares pursuant to the exercise of options granted 
under the Share Option Scheme and to take all such steps as may be necessary and/or desirable to implement 
and give effect to the Share Option Scheme. The maximum number of shares in respect of which options may 
be granted under the Share Option Scheme and under any other share option schemes of the Company must 
not in aggregate exceed 10% of the total number of shares in issue immediately following completion of the 
Global Offering (as defined in the Company’s prospectus dated 10 December 2013), being 180,000,000 Shares, 
excluding any shares that may be issued under the options which have lapsed in accordance with the terms of the 
Share Option Scheme (or any other share option schemes of the Company), unless otherwise approved by the 
shareholders of the Company in general meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed under the Listing 
Rules from time to time.

Unless otherwise approved by the shareholders of the Company in general meeting, the number of shares that 
may be granted to an eligible participant under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes 
of the Company (including both exercised and outstanding options) shall not exceed 1% of the shares in issue 
of the Company within any 12-month period. Any grant of options to a Director, or substantial shareholder 
(as defined in the Listing Rules) of the Company or any of their respective associates (as defined in the Listing 
Rules) is required to be approved by our independent non-executive Directors. Unless otherwise approved by the 
shareholders of the Company in general meeting and/or such other requirements prescribed under the Listing 
Rules, the number of shares that may be granted to a substantial shareholder or any independent non-executive 
Director or their respective associates under the Share Option Scheme and any other share option schemes of the 
Company (including both exercised and outstanding options) shall not exceed 0.1% of the shares in issue, having 
an aggregate value in excess of HKD5 million, within any 12-month period.

There is no minimum period for which an option must be held before it can be exercised, and the period during 
which an option may be exercised will be determined by the Board in its absolute discretion, however, no options 
shall be exercised 10 years after they have been granted. The subscription price of a share in respect of a particular 
option shall be not less than the highest of (a) the official closing price of the Shares on the daily quotation sheet 
of the Stock Exchange; (b) the average official closing price of the shares on the daily quotation sheet of the Stock 
Exchange for the five business days immediately preceding the date of grant; and (c) the nominal value of a share. 
The Share Option Scheme shall take effect from the date it is adopted and shall remain effective within a period 
of 10 years from that date.

From the date that the Share Option Scheme became effective and unconditional and up to the date of this annual 
report, no share options were granted under the Share Option Scheme.
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PURCHASE, SALE OR REDEMPTION OF THE COMPANY’S SECURITIES

The Company has not redeemed any of the shares during the year ended 31 December 2016. Neither the 
Company nor any of its subsidiaries had purchased or sold any of the Company’s securities during the year ended 
31 December 2016.

PUBLIC FLOAT

Rule 8.08(1)(a) of the Listing Rules requires that at least 25% of an issuer’s total issued share capital must at all 
times be held by the public. Based on the information that is publicly available to the Company and within the 
knowledge of the Directors, the Company has maintained sufficiency of public float at all times during the year 
ended 31 December 2016.

CONNECTED TRANSACTIONS

On 28 September 2013, the Group entered into a rental agreement with Quanzhou Xinliya Trading Co., Ltd., 
a connected party controlled by Mr. Chen Fanglin, to lease from such connected party certain premises at a 
monthly rental of RMB72,000. All of the percentage ratios (other than profit ratio) on an annual basis is less than 
0.1% and therefore, the rental agreement is exempted from the reporting, annual review, announcement and 
independent shareholders’ approval requirements of the Listing Rules. The rental agreement has been ended on 
30 November 2016.

RELATED PARTY TRANSACTIONS

Details of the significant related party transactions undertaken in the normal course of business are provided 
under Note 32 to the financial statements, and none of which constitutes a discloseable connected transaction as 
defined under the Listing Rules.

DEED OF NON-COMPETITION

The Company entered into a deed of non-competition (the “Deed of Non-Competition”) with Mr. Chen Fanglin, 
China Wisdom Asia Limited, Central Profit Group Limited, Chen Xiangqun and Regal One Success Limited 
(collectively referred to as the “Covenantors”) on 2 December 2013 so as to better safeguard the Group from any 
potential competition and to formalise the principles for the management of potential conflicts between them and 
to enhance our corporate governance in connection with the listing of the shares on the Stock Exchange.

The independent non-executive Directors have reviewed compliance by the Covenantors and confirm that based 
on confirmations and information provided by each of the Covenantors, they were in compliance with the Deed 
of Non-Competition during the year ended 31 December 2016.

The independent non-executive Directors were not required to review any matter in relation to compliance and 
enforcement of the Deed of Non-Competition during the year ended 31 December 2016.
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PERMITTED INDEMNITY PROVISIONS

At no time during the financial year and up to the date of his report, there was or is, any permitted indemnity 
provision being in force for the benefit of any of the directors of the Company or an associated company.

AUDIT COMMITTEE

The Company has established the Audit Committee pursuant to a resolution of the Directors passed on 2 
December 2013. The Audit Committee comprises three independent non-executive Directors, namely Mr. Ng 
Wing Keung, Mr. Dai Jianping and Ms. Sun Kam Ching. Mr. Ng Wing Keung is the chairman of the Audit 
Committee. The rights and duties of the Audit Committee comply with the code provisions of the CG Code. 
The Audit Committee is responsible for reviewing and supervising the Group’s financial reporting process and 
internal control system and providing advice and recommendations to the Board.

The Audit Committee had reviewed the audited results of the Group for the financial year ended 31 December 
2016.

AUDITOR

The financial statements have been audited by PricewaterhouseCoopers who retire and, being eligible, offer 
themselves for re-appointment in the forthcoming Annual General Meeting.

CLOSURE OF REGISTER OF MEMBERS

In order to determine the entitlement to attend the annual general meeting of our Company to be held on 26 
May 2017 (the “Annual General Meeting”), the register of members of the Company will be closed from 23 May 
2017 to 26 May 2017 (both days inclusive), during which period no transfer of shares can be registered. In order 
to qualify for attending the Annual General Meeting, all transfer of shares accompanied by the relevant share 
certificates must be lodged with the Company’s Hong Kong share registrar, Computershare Hong Kong Investor 
Services Limited at Shops 1712–1716, 17th Floor, Hopewell Centre, 183 Queen’s Road East, Wan Chai, Hong 
Kong for registration by not later than 4:30 p.m. on 22 May 2017.

On behalf of the Board 
Chen Fanglin 
Chairman

Hong Kong, 28 March 2017
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Mr. Chen Fanglin (陳芳林), aged 53, is the Chairman and executive Director of our Company. Mr. Chen is 
responsible for the overall strategic and business direction of our Group. He is the founder of our business in 
1993. He graduated from the Quanzhou Normal School (泉州師範專科學校) (now known as the Quanzhou 
Normal University (泉州師範學院)) in 1982. He obtained a Master of Business Administration from The Open 
University of Hong Kong (香港公開大學) in 2004. From August 1982 to February 1986, Mr. Chen was a teacher 
at the Nanan No. 2 Middle School of Fujian (福建省南安第二中學) and from March 1986 to December 1989, 
he was responsible for research and English studies at the Education Department of Quanzhou Normal School 
(泉州師專教務處). Mr. Chen also holds the title senior economist (高級經濟師) awarded by Fujian Province 
Department of Personnel (福建省人事廳) in August 2008. Mr. Chen was appointed as the vice president of 
China Gift & Leisure Products Association (中國禮儀休閒用品工業協會) in September 2012. Mr. Chen was 
appointed as the deputy to National People’s Congress of Quanzhou City (泉州市人大) in March 2012. He 
was awarded as the Outstanding Person of Economic in the China Market (中國市場傑出經濟人物) by the 
China Market Guidance Committee (中國市場指導委員會) and China Market Magazine (中國市場雜誌社) in 
December 2010. Mr. Chen is a member of council of the Fujian Province Chamber of Commerce for Privately 
Owned Enterprise (福建省民營企業商會) and the Fujian Province Committee of Business and Industrial Joint 
Association (福建省工商業聯合會直屬委員會) since January 2011. In February 2011, he was awarded as the 
Quanzhou Person of Economic (泉州經濟人物) by the Propaganda Department of the People’s Communist 
Party of Quanzhou City (中共泉州市委宣傳部), Quanzhou City General Chamber of Commerce (泉州市總
商會) and Quanzhou Evening Post (泉州晚報社). In December 2011, Mr. Chen was the vice president of the 
Quanzhou City Business and Industrial Joint Association (General Chamber of Commerce) (泉州市工商業聯
合(總商會)). He was nominated as the Leader of China Building Energy Saving Industry (中國建築節能減排領
導人物) by China Building Energy Saving Industry Alliance (中國建築節能減排產業聯盟) and China Urban 
Housing Industry Council (中國城市住宅產業理事會).

Mr. Chen Hongming (陳洪明), aged 43, is the vice president and chief marketing officer of our Group and 
an executive Director of our Company. He is primarily responsible for the product sales and marketing of our 
Group. Mr. Chen graduated from Fuzhou University (福州大學) with a major in international trade in 1995. In 
2003, Mr. Chen graduated from Fujian Normal University (福建師範大學) with a major in English studies. He 
also obtained a Master of Business Administration from The Open University of Hong Kong (香港公開大學) 
in 2004. He obtained a Master of Business Administration from Huaqiao University (華僑大學) in 2011. Mr. 
Chen holds the title senior economist (高級經濟師) awarded by Fujian Province Department of Personnel (福建
省人事廳) in August 2008. He joined our Group in 1997 and was promoted in May 2005 to the director of our 
marketing and sales team. In August 2008, he was appointed as the vice president of our Group where he was 
responsible for the sales and marketing of our products.

Mr. Shen Jianzhong (申建忠), aged 57, is the vice president, chief administrative and human resources officer 
of our Group and an executive Director of our Company. Mr. Shen is responsible for human resources and 
administration management of our Group. Prior to joining our Group in 1994, Mr. Shen worked in Quanzhou 
Guopin Company (泉州市果品公司) and was the officer at the Guopin Trading Company (果品貿易公司). The 
principal business of these two companies was trading of fruits. In July 1994, Mr. Shen joined our Group and was 
an assistant to the president. He was promoted in 2005 to the vice general manager. In 2008, he was appointed 
as the vice president of our Group. Mr. Shen holds the title intermediate economist (中級經濟師) awarded by 
Fujian Province Department of Personnel (福建省人事廳) in November 2008.
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EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS (Continued)

Mr. Chen Jiang (陳江), aged 48, is an executive Director of our Company. He is principally responsible for 
business expansion and finance management in the Group. He completed a course programme in Economic 
Information and Computing Application from Southwest University of Science and Technology (西南科技大
學) in the PRC. Mr. Chen has served in senior management position in companies for finance leasing and trading 
for over 20 years. Mr. Chen had served as the vice chairman and is currently the executive chairman of Chengdu 
Enterprise Credit Assessment and Integrity Evaluation Association (成都企業信用評估與誠信評價協會) (the 
“Association”) and was appointed as a specialist of the Review Committee of the Association in 2012. Mr. Chen 
was an executive director of Co-Prosperity Holdings Limited, the shares of which are listed on the main board of 
the Stock Exchange (stock code: 707), from 15 April 2015 to 3 March 2016. From 7 August 2015 to 2 December 
2016, he was an executive director of China Ocean Fishing Holdings Limited (“China Ocean Fishing”, previously 
known as Sky Forever Supply Chain Management Group Limited), the shares of which are listed on the Growth 
Enterprise Market of the Stock Exchange (stock code: 8047). He was also the chairman of the board and co-chief 
executive officer of China Ocean Fishing from 4 May 2016 to 7 September 2016 and from 7 September 2016 to 2 
December 2016, respectively.

Mr. Xu Qiang (徐強), aged 33, is an executive Director of our Company. He is principally responsible for 
business expansion and finance management in the Group. He graduated from Zhongnan University of 
Economics and Law (中南財經政法大學) in the PRC, studying International Economic Law. He is a Chartered 
Financial Practitioner of the Asia Pacific Financial Services Association (APFinSA). He was the investment 
director of asset management department in Jialian Rongfeng Investment Development Management Limited 
(嘉聯融豐投資發展管理有限公司) from 2009 to 2012 and involved in private equity, initial public offerings and 
mergers and acquisitions projects. From 2012 to 2015, Mr. Xu served as a fund manager in an offshore fund and 
was responsible for managing and hedging of international derivatives products. Mr Xu is also familiar with asset 
management, risk management and business strategic planning.
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INDEPENDENT NON-EXECUTIVE DIRECTORS

Mr. Dai Jianping (戴建平), aged 60, was appointed as our independent non-executive Director on 1 December 
2013. Mr. Dai graduated from Fujian Province Adult College (福建省成人中等專業學校) with a major in 
urban construction in 1988. He was an engineer qualified by the Fujian Province Department of Personnel (福
建省人事廳) in November 1995. Since 2000, Mr. Dai has been serving as a vice general manager of Quanzhou 
Dahua Property Development Co., Ltd (泉州大華房地產開發有限公司). He was awarded the Temporary 
Certificate of Registration of Constructor of the PRC (中華人民共和國一級建造師臨時執業證書) by the 
Ministry of Housing and Urban-Rural Construction (中華人民共和國住房和城鄉建設部) in March 2008. In 
November 2008, Mr. Dai was awarded the title person-in-charge of project (項目負責人) by the Fujian Province 
Department of Construction (福建省建設廳).

Mr. Ng Wing Keung (伍永強), aged 47, was appointed as our independent non-executive Director on 1 
December 2013. Mr. Ng is a practising certified public accountant in Hong Kong, a fellow member of the Hong 
Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and the Association of Chartered Certified Accountants. He 
worked in Li, Tang, Chen & Co. from August 1993 to March 2001 and started his own audit firm in June 2001. 
Mr. Ng has been practising as certified public accountant in Hong Kong over 10 years and is currently a managing 
director of KTO CPA Limited. From 10 August 2012 to 15 October 2013, Mr. Ng was the non-executive director 
of Peace Map Holding Limited (stock code: 402.HK).

Ms. Sun Kam Ching (孫錦程), aged 44, was appointed as our independent non-executive Director on 1 
December 2013. Ms. Sun received a bachelor’s degree in business administration from Huaqiao University (華僑
大學) in 1994. Ms. Sun has over 15 years of experience in business administration and financial management. Ms. 
Sun joined Jinjiang Aile Group (晉江愛樂集團) (“Jinjiang Aile”) in 1996 and held various positions in Jinjiang 
Aile, including head of the sales department of Jinjiang Aile Shoes and Clothing Co., Ltd. (晉江愛樂鞋服公司), 
a subsidiary of Jinjiang Aile, from 1996 to 2000, the chief sales planning officer of Jinjiang Aile since 2003, and 
the chief financial officer of Jinjiang Aile since 2005. Ms. Sun has also been responsible for the image consultancy 
of Jinjiang Aile and is involved in the management of certain subsidiaries of Jinjiang Aile, including Jinjiang 
Aile Holiday Hotel (晉江愛樂假日酒店) and Shishi Aile Holiday Hotel (石獅愛樂假日酒店) since 2000. Ms. 
Sun attended the training courses for independent non-executive Director conducted by the Shenzhen Stock 
Exchange in 2008. Ms. Sun has been appointed as an independent non- executive director of Labixiaoxin Snack 
Group Limited (stock code: 1262.HK) since 2011.
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SENIOR MANAGEMENT

Mr. Hui Hung Kwan (許鴻群), aged 45, has been the chief financial officer of our Group since June 2013 and 
is responsible for our Group’s financial planning and strategy. Mr. Hui graduated from The Chinese University 
of Hong Kong (香港中文大學) with a bachelor’s degree in business administration in 1994. Mr. Hui has been a 
member of the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants and The Association of Chartered Certified 
Accountants since 1997 and 2002, respectively. Mr. Hui has ten years’ experience in the auditing profession. 
Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Hui was the audit manager of Li, Tang, Chen & Co., CPA, an accounting firm 
in Hong Kong from 1994 to 2004. Mr. Hui was the chief financial officer of C&G Environmental Protection 
Holdings Limited, a company listed on the main board of Singapore Exchange (stock code: SES: D79), from 2004 
to October 2010. From November 2010 to December 2012, Mr. Hui was the chief financial officer of Premiere 
Eastern Energy Pte. Ltd. and was responsible for financial and capital market management. From July 2009 to 
June 2015, Mr. Hui was an independent non-executive director of TUS International Limited (啟迪國際有限公
司) (formerly known as Jinheng Automotive Safety Technology Holdings Limited (錦恆汽車安全技術控股有限
公司)), a company listed on the Stock Exchange (stock code: 872.HK).

Mr. Yang Dilin (楊的林), aged 52, has been the vice financial officer of our Group since March 2012 and 
is responsible for day-to-day financial affairs of our Group. Mr. Yang attended The Party School of Anhui 
Provincial Committee of C.P.C. (中共安徽省委黨校) from September 1998 to July 2001, majoring in law. Mr. 
Yang is a qualified accountant in China. Prior to joining our Group, Mr. Yang served the Susong Finance Bureau 
(宿松縣財政局) between July 1983 and September 2000. He worked at Shenzhen Liwei Electronic Company 
Limited (深圳力偉電子有限公司) from June 2005 to April 2010 as the chief financial officer. From May 2010 to 
December 2011, Mr. Yang was the manager of Jomoo Group Co., Ltd. (九牧集團有限公司) and was responsible 
for budgeting.

Mr. Zhang Pingxin (張平新), aged 45, is the vice general manager and chief product officer of our Group and is 
responsible for production management. He worked in Shanxi Province Huayin City Huashan Yejin Automotive 
Factory (陝西省華陰市華山冶金車輛廠) as an engineer between July 1992 and November 1995. He then 
worked in Shenzhen Shiyong Electrical and Metal Manufacturing Company Limited (深圳實用電器金屬製造有
限公司) as a manger from December 1995 to April 2003 where he was responsible for production management 
and quality control. From May 2003 to May 2008, Mr. Zhang worked in Zhejiang Fuerj Electrical Co., Ltd. (浙江
富爾佳電器製品有限公司) as the manager of the quality control department. He joined our Group in June 2008 
and since then has been responsible for our Group’s production and quality control.

Mr. Zheng Hebin (鄭鶴斌), aged 45, is the chief research and development officer of our Group and is 
responsible for product research and development. He served the development department of Fuzhou Gaodeng 
Artefact Company Limited (福州高登工藝品有限公司), where he was responsible for designing products. He 
was the manager of the development department of Fuqing Fuhua Artefact Company Limited (福清複華工藝
品有限公司). Mr. Zheng joined our Group in July 1997 as the manager of our design team. He was promoted 
in March 2005 to be the chief officer of our research and development team. Mr. Zheng has participated in the 
development of fireplace of our Group since 2005.
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TO THE SHAREHOLDERS OF CHINA CREATIVE GLOBAL HOLDINGS LIMITED
(formerly known as China Creative Home Group Limited)
(incorporated in the Cayman Islands with limited liability)

OPINION

What we have audited

The consolidated financial statements of China Creative Global Holdings Limited (the “Company”) (formerly 
known as China Creative Home Group Limited) and its subsidiaries (the “Group”) set out on pages 46 to 107, 
which comprise:

• the consolidated statement of financial position as at 31 December 2016;

• the consolidated statement of comprehensive income for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of changes in equity for the year then ended;

• the consolidated statement of cash flows for the year then ended; and

• the notes to the consolidated financial statements, which include a summary of significant accounting 
policies.

Our opinion

In our opinion, the consolidated financial statements give a true and fair view of the consolidated financial 
position of the Group as at 31 December 2016, and of its consolidated financial performance and its consolidated 
cash flows for the year then ended in accordance with Hong Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) 
issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified Public Accountants (“HKICPA”) and have been properly prepared 
in compliance with the disclosure requirements of the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance.

BASIS FOR OPINION

We conducted our audit in accordance with Hong Kong Standards on Auditing (“HKSAs”) issued by the 
HKICPA. Our responsibilities under those standards are further described in the Auditor’s Responsibilities for 
the Audit of the Consolidated Financial Statements section of our report.

We believe that the audit evidence we have obtained is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our 
opinion.

Independence

We are independent of the Group in accordance with the HKICPA’s Code of Ethics for Professional Accountants 
(“the Code”), and we have fulfilled our other ethical responsibilities in accordance with the Code.
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KEY AUDIT MATTERS

Key audit matters are those matters that, in our professional judgment, were of most significance in our audit of 
the consolidated financial statements of the current period. These matters were addressed in the context of our 
audit of the consolidated financial statements as a whole, and in forming our opinion thereon, and we do not 
provide a separate opinion on these matters.

Key audit matters identified in our audit are summarised as follows:

• Impairment of property, plant and equipment
• Recoverability of trade receivables

Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Refer to Notes 5.1 and 15 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had property, 
plant and equipment before impairment provision of 
approximately RMB428 million located in Anhui, the 
People’s Republic of China.

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s 
operation in Anhui, which represents a separate 
cash generating unit (“CGU”), has been making 
losses in two consecutive years and management 
considers that there is an indicator that property, 
plant and equipment located in Anhui may be 
impaired. Therefore, management has performed an 
impairment assessment on the property, plant and 
equipment of that CGU.

I n  v i e w o f  t h e  c u r r e n t  s t a t u s  o f  t h a t  C G U , 
management considered that the recoverable 
amount of that CGU calculated based on fair value 
less costs of disposal would be higher than the 
amount estimated by using value-in-use calculation. 
Therefore, management decided to determine the 
recoverable amount of that CGU based on fair value 
less costs of disposal.

To determine the recoverable amount, management 
has engaged an independent professional valuer 
(“Valuer”) to perform a valuation, taking into 
account the current status of the assets and market 
price/transactions for similar assets. 

Our procedures in relat ion to management’s 
impairment assessment of property, plant and 
equipment included:

– Understanding the impairment assessment 
methodology used by management to estimate 
the fair value less costs of disposal for the 
property, plant and equipment of that CGU;

– Assessing the competence, independence and 
integrity of the Valuer;

– Obtaining and reading the valuation report 
issued by the Valuer for the property, plant and 
equipment of that CGU and discussing with 
the Valuer to understand the methodology and 
assumptions used;

– Performing sample tests on the completeness 
of the information of the property, plant and 
equipment of that CGU provided to the Valuer 
by management; and

– Comparing the input data used by the Valuer 
such as the current status of the assets and market 
price/transactions for similar assets to external 
market data on a sample basis.

We found the judgements and estimates used in the 
impairment assessment of the property, plant and 
equipment of that CGU were supportable in light of 
the available and comparable evidence.
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Key Audit Matter How our audit addressed the Key Audit Matter

Impairment of property, plant and equipment

Based on the result of the assessment, the recoverable 
amount of the assets of that CGU is lower than its 
carrying amount by approximately RMB54 million. 
Therefore, management has provided an impairment 
provision of approximately RMB54 million for the 
property, plant and equipment.

We focused on this area because of the significant 
judgements and estimates involved in the impairment 
assessment by management.
  

Recoverability of trade receivables

Refer to Notes 5.3 and 20 to the consolidated financial 
statements.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group had trade 
receivables of RMB71.7 million, of which RMB46.2 
million was past due and a provision for doubtful 
debts of RMB2.4 million has been made.

Management is required to exercise significant 
judgement in assessing the recoverability of the trade 
receivables. In making its judgement, management 
considers a wide range of factors such as aging profile 
of the trade receivables, payment trends, results of 
follow-up procedures performed by sales personnel 
and customers’ financial position. 

We focused on this area because of the size of the 
balance and significant judgements made by the 
management in assessing the recoverability of trade 
receivables.

Our procedures in relat ion to management’s 
assessment on the recoverability of trade receivables 
included:

– Understanding and evaluating the design and 
operating effectiveness of the Group’s credit 
controls;

– Checking the accuracy of the aging profile of the 
trade receivables to sales invoices on a sample 
basis;

– Testing the settlements made by the customers 
subsequent to the year end date by tracing to 
the corresponding bank statements on a sample 
basis; and

– Discussing with management about the results 
of follow-up procedures performed by sales 
personnel, the latest financial position of the 
customers and management’s assessment on the 
recoverability of trade receivables.

Based on the above, we found that the significant 
judgements made by management is properly 
supported by the available evidence. 



Annual Report 2016 CHINA CREATIVE GLOBAL HOLDINGS LIMITED44

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

OTHER INFORMATION

The directors of the Company are responsible for the other information. The other information comprises all of 
the information included in the annual report other than the consolidated financial statements and our auditor’s 
report thereon.

Our opinion on the consolidated financial statements does not cover the other information and we do not express 
any form of assurance conclusion thereon.

In connection with our audit of the consolidated financial statements, our responsibility is to read the other 
information and, in doing so, consider whether the other information is materially inconsistent with the 
consolidated financial statements or our knowledge obtained in the audit or otherwise appears to be materially 
misstated.

If, based on the work we have performed, we conclude that there is a material misstatement of this other 
information, we are required to report that fact. We have nothing to report in this regard.

R E S P O N S I B I L I T I E S  O F  D I R E C T O R S  A N D  T H O S E  C H A R G E D  W I T H 
GOVERNANCE FOR THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

The directors of the Company are responsible for the preparation of the consolidated financial statements that 
give a true and fair view in accordance with HKFRSs issued by the HKICPA and the disclosure requirements of 
the Hong Kong Companies Ordinance, and for such internal control as the directors determine is necessary to 
enable the preparation of consolidated financial statements that are free from material misstatement, whether due 
to fraud or error.

In preparing the consolidated financial statements, the directors are responsible for assessing the Group’s ability 
to continue as a going concern, disclosing, as applicable, matters related to going concern and using the going 
concern basis of accounting unless the directors either intend to liquidate the Group or to cease operations, or 
have no realistic alternative but to do so.

Those charged with governance are responsible for overseeing the Group’s financial reporting process.

AUDITOR’S RESPONSIBILITIES FOR THE AUDIT OF THE CONSOLIDATED 
FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

Our objectives are to obtain reasonable assurance about whether the consolidated financial statements as a 
whole are free from material misstatement, whether due to fraud or error, and to issue an auditor’s report that 
includes our opinion. We report our opinion solely to you, as a body, and for no other purpose. We do not assume 
responsibility towards or accept liability to any other person for the contents of this report. Reasonable assurance 
is a high level of assurance, but is not a guarantee that an audit conducted in accordance with HKSAs will always 
detect a material misstatement when it exists. Misstatements can arise from fraud or error and are considered 
material if, individually or in the aggregate, they could reasonably be expected to influence the economic 
decisions of users taken on the basis of these consolidated financial statements.



CHINA CREATIVE GLOBAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2016 45

INDEPENDENT AUDITOR’S REPORT

As part of an audit in accordance with HKSAs, we exercise professional judgment and maintain professional 
scepticism throughout the audit. We also:

• Identify and assess the risks of material misstatement of the consolidated financial statements, whether due 
to fraud or error, design and perform audit procedures responsive to those risks, and obtain audit evidence 
that is sufficient and appropriate to provide a basis for our opinion. The risk of not detecting a material 
misstatement resulting from fraud is higher than for one resulting from error, as fraud may involve collusion, 
forgery, intentional omissions, misrepresentations, or the override of internal control.

• Obtain an understanding of internal control relevant to the audit in order to design audit procedures that are 
appropriate in the circumstances, but not for the purpose of expressing an opinion on the effectiveness of the 
Group’s internal control.

• Evaluate the appropriateness of accounting policies used and the reasonableness of accounting estimates and 
related disclosures made by the directors.

• Conclude on the appropriateness of the directors’ use of the going concern basis of accounting and, based on 
the audit evidence obtained, whether a material uncertainty exists related to events or conditions that may 
cast significant doubt on the Group’s ability to continue as a going concern. If we conclude that a material 
uncertainty exists, we are required to draw attention in our auditor’s report to the related disclosures in 
the consolidated financial statements or, if such disclosures are inadequate, to modify our opinion. Our 
conclusions are based on the audit evidence obtained up to the date of our auditor’s report. However, future 
events or conditions may cause the Group to cease to continue as a going concern.

• Evaluate the overall presentation, structure and content of the consolidated financial statements, including 
the disclosures, and whether the consolidated financial statements represent the underlying transactions and 
events in a manner that achieves fair presentation.

• Obtain sufficient appropriate audit evidence regarding the financial information of the entities or business 
activities within the Group to express an opinion on the consolidated financial statements. We are 
responsible for the direction, supervision and performance of the group audit. We remain solely responsible 
for our audit opinion.

We communicate with those charged with governance regarding, among other matters, the planned scope and 
timing of the audit and significant audit findings, including any significant deficiencies in internal control that we 
identify during our audit.

We also provide those charged with governance with a statement that we have complied with relevant ethical 
requirements regarding independence, and to communicate with them all relationships and other matters that 
may reasonably be thought to bear on our independence, and where applicable, related safeguards.

From the matters communicated with those charged with governance, we determine those matters that were of 
most significance in the audit of the consolidated financial statements of the current period and are therefore the 
key audit matters. We describe these matters in our auditor’s report unless law or regulation precludes public 
disclosure about the matter or when, in extremely rare circumstances, we determine that a matter should not 
be communicated in our report because the adverse consequences of doing so would reasonably be expected to 
outweigh the public interest benefits of such communication.

The engagement partner on the audit resulting in this independent auditor’s report is Cecilia, Lai Ting Yau.

PricewaterhouseCoopers
Certified Public Accountants

Hong Kong, 28 March 2017
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Note RMB’000 RMB’000    

Revenue 7 349,744 1,281,926
Cost of sales 8 (257,246) (808,514)  

Gross profit 92,498 473,412

Selling and distribution costs 8 (27,466) (52,099)
Administrative expenses 8 (79,467) (84,892)
Impairment provision of property, plant and 

equipment 15 (54,039) –
Other income 7 4,662 10,747
Other (losses)/gains – net 10 (12,775) 23,668  

Operating (loss)/profit (76,587) 370,836

Finance costs 11 (16,254) (3,612)
Share of loss of an associate 18 (533) –  

(Loss)/profit before income tax (93,374) 367,224

Income tax expense 12 (2,144) (68,231)  

(Loss)/profit and total comprehensive 
(loss)/income for the year attributable to 
owners of the Company (95,518) 298,993  

(Loss)/earnings per share for (loss)/profit 
attributable to owners of the Company
– Basic and diluted (expressed in RMB per share) 13 (0.05) 0.16  



CONSOLIDATED STATEMENT OF 
FINANCIAL POSITION

CHINA CREATIVE GLOBAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2016 47

As at 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Note RMB’000 RMB’000    

ASSETS
Non-current assets

Property, plant and equipment 15 627,856 688,961
Investment property 16 110,400 122,400
Land use rights 17 205,224 209,535
Investment in an associate 18 210,820 –
Prepayments 21 321,360 296,211  

1,475,660 1,317,107  

Current assets
Inventories 19 11,984 31,983
Trade receivables 20 71,737 401,262
Deposits, prepayments and other receivables 21 8,651 18,739
Pledged deposits 22 – 1,840
Cash and cash equivalents 22 817,213 720,178  

909,585 1,174,002
Assets classified as held for sale 23 89,752 109,552  

999,337 1,283,554  

Total assets 2,474,997 2,600,661  

EQUITY
Equity attributable to owners of the Company

Share capital 24 160 155
Share premium 24 693,494 665,621
Reserves 1,559,811 1,680,752  

Total equity 2,253,465 2,346,528  
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2016 2015
Note RMB’000 RMB’000    

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 27 138,071 –
Deferred tax liabilities 28 5,377 11,386  

143,448 11,386  

Current liabilities
Trade and other payables 26 37,387 173,420
Borrowings 27 38,000 49,000
Current income tax liabilities 2,697 20,327  

78,084 242,747  

Total liabilities 221,532 254,133  

Total equity and liabilities 2,474,997 2,600,661  

The consolidated financial statements on pages 46 to 107 were approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 
28 March 2017 and were signed on its behalf.

Chen Fanglin Chen Hongming

The notes on pages 51 to 107 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.

As at 31 December 2016
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

Reserves 
Share 

capital
Share 

premium
Capital 
reserve

Statutory 
reserve

Retained 
earnings

Revaluation 
reserve Total

Note RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000
(Note 24) (Note 24) (Note 25(a)) (Note 25(b))         

Balances as at 1 January 2015 141 483,413 406,736 121,981 907,560 1,642 1,921,473
Comprehensive income
Profit for the year – – – – 298,993 – 298,993       

Transactions with owners:
Transfer to statutory reserve 25 – – – 21,202 (21,202) – –
Issue of new shares upon placement 24 14 184,306 – – – – 184,320
Share issue expenses – (2,098) – – – – (2,098)
Dividend related to 2014 

declared in 2015 14 – – – – (56,160) – (56,160)       

14 182,208 – 21,202 (77,362) – 126,062       

Balances as at 31 December 2015 155 665,621 406,736 143,183 1,129,191 1,642 2,346,528
Comprehensive income
Loss for the year – – – – (95,518) – (95,518)       

Transactions with owners:
Transfer to statutory reserve 25 – – – 995 (995) – –
Issue of new shares 24 5 27,873 – – – – 27,878
Dividend related to 2015 

declared in 2016 14 – – – – (25,423) – (25,423)       

5 27,873 – 995 (26,418) – 2,455       

Balances as at 31 December 2016 160 693,494 406,736 144,178 1,007,255 1,642 2,253,465       

The notes on pages 51 to 107 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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For the year ended 31 December 2016

2016 2015
Note RMB’000 RMB’000    

Cash flows from operating activities
Cash generated from operations 30 249,286 440,269
Interest paid (7,001) (3,612)
Income tax paid (25,783) (90,261)  

Net cash generated from operating activities 216,502 346,396  

Cash flows from investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment (13,972) (109,259)
Additions to land use rights – (58,655)
Prepayments for property, plant and equipment 

and land use rights (47,000) –
Refund/(prepayment) for a commercial building 19,760 (292,120)
Proceeds from disposal of assets classified 

as held for sale 9,900 –
Investment in an associate (183,475) –
Interest received 3,972 5,068
Decrease in bank deposits – 100,000  

Net cash used in investing activities (210,815) (354,966)  

Cash flows from financing activities
Proceeds from issuance of new shares upon 

placement – 184,320
Share issue expenses – (2,098)
Proceeds from borrowings 177,104 49,000
Repayments of borrowings (57,000) (54,000)
Dividends paid (25,423) (56,160)  

Net cash generated from financing activities 94,681 121,062  

Net increase in cash and cash equivalents 100,368 112,492
Cash and cash equivalents at 1 January 720,178 607,066
Exchange (losses)/gains on cash and cash 

equivalents (3,333) 620  

Cash and cash equivalents at 31 December 22 817,213 720,178  

The notes on pages 51 to 107 are an integral part of these consolidated financial statements.
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1 GENERAL INFORMATION

China Creative Global Holdings Limited (the “Company”) formerly known as China Creative Home Group 
Limited was incorporated in the Cayman Islands on 7 July 2011 as an exempted company with limited 
liability under the Companies Law, Cap. 22 (Law 3 of 1961, as consolidated and revised) of the Cayman 
Islands. The address of its registered office is Cricket Square, Hutchins Drive, P.O. Box 2681, Grand Cayman, 
KY1-1111, the Cayman Islands.

The Company is an investment holding company. The Company and its subsidiaries (together the “Group”) 
are principally engaged in the business of design, development, manufacturing and sales of home decor 
products, electric fireplaces and air purifiers primarily in the People’s Republic of China (the “PRC”).

The Company’s shares are listed on the Main Board of The Stock Exchange of Hong Kong Limited.

These consolidated financial statements are presented in thousands of units of Renminbi (“RMB’000”), 
unless otherwise stated and have been approved for issue by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2017.

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES

The principal accounting policies applied in the preparation of these consolidated financial statements are set 
out below. These policies have been consistently applied to all the years presented, unless otherwise stated.

2.1 Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of the Group have been prepared in accordance with Hong 
Kong Financial Reporting Standards (“HKFRSs”) issued by the Hong Kong Institute of Certified 
Public Accountants and have been prepared under the historical cost convention, as modified by the 
revaluation of investment property and assets classified as held for sale, which are carried at fair value.

The preparation of financial statements in conformity with HKFRSs requires the use of certain critical 
accounting estimates. It also requires management to exercise its judgement in the process of applying 
the Group’s accounting policies. The areas involving a higher degree of judgement or complexity, or 
areas where assumptions and estimates are significant to the consolidated financial statements are 
disclosed in Note 5.



Annual Report 2016 CHINA CREATIVE GLOBAL HOLDINGS LIMITED52

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.1 Basis of preparation (Continued)

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group has adopted the following new standards and 
amendments to existing standards which are mandatory for accounting periods beginning on 1 January 
2016:

HKAS 1 (Amendment) Disclosure Initiative
HKAS 16 and HKAS 38 (Amendment) Clarification of Acceptable Methods of Depreciation and 

Amortization
HKAS 16 and HKAS 41 (Amendment) Agriculture: Bearer Plants
HKAS 27 (Amendment) Equity Method in Separate Financial Statements
HKFRS 10, HKFRS 12 and 

HKAS 28 (Amendment)
Investment Entities: Applying the Consolidation Exception

HKFRS 11 (Amendment) Accounting for Acquisitions of Interests in Joint Operations
HKFRS 14 Regulatory Deferral Accounts
Annual Improvements Project Annual Improvements 2012-2014 Cycle

The adoption of these new standards and amendments to existing standards does not have significant 
impact to the Group’s results of operation and financial position.

The following are new standards and amendments to existing standards that have been published and 
mandatory for the Group’s accounting periods beginning after 1 January 2016, but have not been early 
adopted by the Group.

Effective for 
annual periods 

beginning 
on or after   

HKFRS 2 (Amendment) Classification and Measurement of 
Share-based Payment Transactions

1 January 2018

HKAS 7 (Amendment) Statement of Cash Flows 1 January 2017
HKAS 12 (Amendment) Income Taxes 1 January 2017
HKFRS 9 Financial Instruments 1 January 2018
HKFRS 16 Leases 1 January 2019
HKFRS 10 and HKAS 28 

(Amendment)
Sale or Contribution of Assets Between 

Investor and its Associate or Joint Venture
To be determined

HKFRS 15 Revenue from Contracts with Customers 1 January 2018

The Group will adopt the above new standards and amendments to existing standards as and when they 
become effective. The Group has already commenced the assessment of the impact to the Group and is 
not yet in a position to state whether these would have a significant impact on its results of operations 
and financial position.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Consolidated financial information

A subsidiary is an entity (including a structured entity) over which the Group has control. The Group 
controls an entity when the Group is exposed to, or has rights to, variable returns from its involvement 
with the entity and has the ability to affect those returns through its power over the entity. Subsidiaries 
are consolidated from the date on which control is transferred to the Group. They are deconsolidated 
from the date that control ceases.

The Group applies the acquisition method to account for business combinations. The consideration 
transferred for the acquisition of a subsidiary is the fair values of the assets transferred, the liabilities 
incurred to the former owners of the acquiree and the equity interests issued by the Group. The 
consideration transferred includes the fair value of any asset or liability resulting from a contingent 
consideration arrangement. Identifiable assets acquired and liabilities and contingent liabilities assumed 
in a business combination are measured initially at their fair values at the acquisition date. The Group 
recognizes any non-controlling interest in the acquiree on an acquisition-by-acquisition basis, either 
at fair value or at the non-controlling interest’s proportionate share of the recognized amounts of 
acquiree’s identifiable net assets.

Intra-group transactions, balances, and unrealized gains on transactions between group companies are 
eliminated. Unrealized losses are also eliminated. When necessary, amounts reported by subsidiaries 
have been adjusted to conform with the Group’s accounting policies.

Transactions with non-controlling interests that do not result in a loss of control are accounted for 
as equity transactions – that is, as transactions with the owners of the subsidiary in their capacity as 
owners. The difference between fair value of any consideration paid and the relevant share acquired of 
the carrying amount of net assets of the subsidiary is recorded in equity. Gains or losses on disposals to 
non-controlling interests are also recorded in equity.

When the Group ceases to have control, any retained interest in the entity is re-measured to its fair value 
at the date when control is lost, with the change in carrying amount recognized in profit or loss. The 
fair value is the initial carrying amount for the purposes of subsequently accounting for the retained 
interest as an associate, joint venture or financial asset. In addition, any amounts previously recognized 
in other comprehensive income in respect of that entity are accounted for as if the Group had directly 
disposed of the related assets or liabilities. This may mean that the amounts previously recognized as 
other comprehensive income are reclassified to profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.2 Consolidated financial information (Continued)

Separate financial statements

Investments in subsidiaries are accounted for at cost less impairment. Cost includes direct attributable 
costs of investment. The results of subsidiaries are accounted for by the Company on the basis of 
dividends received and receivable.

Impairment testing of the investments in subsidiaries is required upon receiving a dividend from these 
investments if the dividend exceeds the total comprehensive income of the subsidiary in the period the 
dividend is declared or if the carrying amount of the investment in the separate financial statements 
exceeds the carrying amount in the consolidated financial statements of the investee’s net assets 
including goodwill.

2.3 Associate

An associate is an entity over which the Group has significant influence but not control, generally 
accompanying a shareholding of between 20% and 50% of the voting rights. Investment in an associate 
is accounted for using the equity method of accounting. Under the equity method, the investment is 
initially recognized at cost, and the carrying amount is increased or decreased to recognize the investor’s 
share of the profit or loss of the investee after the date of acquisition. The Group’s investment in an 
associate includes goodwill identified on acquisition. Upon the acquisition of the ownership interest in 
an associate, any difference between the cost of the associate and the Group’s share of the net fair value 
of the associate’s identifiable assets and liabilities is accounted for as goodwill.

If the ownership interest in an associate is reduced but significant influence is retained, only a 
proportionate share of the amounts previously recognized in other comprehensive income is reclassified 
to profit or loss where appropriate.

The Group’s share of post-acquisition profit or loss is recognized in the statement of profit or loss, 
and its share of post-acquisition movements in other comprehensive income is recognized in other 
comprehensive income with a corresponding adjustment to the carrying amount of the investment. 
When the Group’s share of loss in an associate equals or exceeds its interest in the associate, including 
any other unsecured receivables, the Group does not recognize further losses, unless it has incurred legal 
or constructive obligations or made payments on behalf of the associate.

The Group determines at each reporting date whether there is any objective evidence that the investment 
in the associate is impaired. If this is the case, the Group calculates the amount of impairment as the 
difference between the recoverable amount of the associate and its carrying value and recognizes the 
amount adjacent to ‘share of loss of an associate’ in the statement of profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.3 Associate (Continued)

Profits and losses resulting from upstream and downstream transactions between the Group and its 
associate are recognized in the Group’s financial statements only to the extent of unrelated investor’s 
interests in the associates. Unrealized losses are eliminated unless the transaction provides evidence 
of an impairment of the asset transferred. Accounting policies of associates have been changed where 
necessary to ensure consistency with the policies adopted by the Group.

Gain or losses on dilution of equity interest in an associate are recognized in the statement of profit or 
loss.

2.4 Segment reporting

Operating segments are reported in a manner consistent with the internal reporting provided to the 
chief operating decision-maker. The chief operating decision-maker, who is responsible for allocating 
resources and assessing performance of the operating segments, has been identified as the executive 
directors of the Group that makes strategic decisions.

2.5 Foreign currency translation

(a) Functional and presentation currency

Items included in the financial statements of each of the Group’s entities are measured using the 
currency of the primary economic environment in which the entity operates (the “functional 
currency”). These consolidated financial statements are presented in RMB, which is the functional 
currency of the Company and presentation currency of the Group.

(b) Transactions and balances

Foreign currency transactions are translated into the functional currency using the exchange 
rates prevailing at the dates of the transactions or valuation where items are re-measured. Foreign 
exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of such transactions and from the 
translation at year-end exchange rates of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign 
currencies are recognized in the profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.5 Foreign currency translation (Continued)

(c) Group companies

The results and financial position of all the Group’s entities (none of which has the currency of 
a hyperinflationary economy) that have a functional currency different from the presentation 
currency are translated into the presentation currency as follows:

– assets and liabilities for each statement of financial position of the Group’s entities are 
translated at the closing rate at the date of that statement of financial position;

– income and expenses for each statement of comprehensive income of the Group’s entities are 
translated at average exchange rates (unless this average is not a reasonable approximation of 
the cumulative effect of the rates prevailing on the transaction dates, in which case income and 
expenses are translated at the dates of the transactions); and

– all resulting currency translation differences are recognized as other comprehensive income.

2.6 Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment, except for construction in progress, are stated at cost less accumulated 
depreciation and accumulated impairment losses. Historical cost includes expenditure that is directly 
attributable to the acquisition of the items. Subsequent costs are included in the asset’s carrying amount 
or recognized as a separate asset, as appropriate, only when it is probable that future economic benefits 
associated with the item will flow to the Group and the cost of the item can be measured reliably. The 
carrying amount of the replaced part is derecognized. All other repairs and maintenance are charged to 
the profit or loss during the financial year in which they are incurred.

Construction in progress is stated at cost less accumulated impairment losses. Direct and indirect costs 
relating to the construction in progress, including borrowing costs during the construction period, 
are capitalized as the costs of the assets. Cost on completed construction work is then transferred to 
appropriate category of property, plant and equipment.

Depreciation on property, plant and equipment is calculated using the straight-line method to allocate 
their costs over their estimated useful lives, as follows:

Buildings 30 years
Plant and machinery 5 – 10 years
Office equipment 5 years
Motor vehicles 4 years



CHINA CREATIVE GLOBAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2016 57

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.6 Property, plant and equipment (Continued)

No depreciation is provided in respect of construction in progress until the completion of construction. 
Depreciation commences when construction in progress is transferred to property, plant and equipment 
and ready for their intended use.

The assets’ residual values and useful lives are reviewed, and adjusted if appropriate, at the end of each 
reporting period. An asset’s carrying amount is written down immediately to its recoverable amount if 
the asset’s carrying amount is greater than its estimated recoverable amount (Note 2.9).

Gains and losses on disposals are determined by comparing the proceeds with the carrying amount and 
are recognized in the profit or loss.

If the land use rights and the attached properties for own-use become an investment property because 
its use has changed, any difference resulting between the carrying amount and the fair value of this item 
at the date of transfer is recognized in equity as a revaluation of the leasehold land or land use rights 
and the attached properties. Any resulting increase in the carrying amount of the property is recognized 
in the profit or loss to the extent that reverses a previous impairment loss, with any remaining increase 
recognized directly to revaluation surplus within other comprehensive income. Any resulting decrease 
in the carrying amount of the property is initially charged as other comprehensive loss against any 
previously recognized revaluation surplus, with any remaining decrease charged to the profit or loss. 
Any revaluation reserve balance of the property is transferred to retained earnings in the statement of 
comprehensive income upon the subsequent disposal of the investment property.

2.7 Land use rights

Land use rights represent upfront operating lease payments made for the land and are stated at cost less 
amount written off on a straight-line basis over the lease period and impairment loss.

2.8 Investment property

Investment property, principally comprising leasehold land and buildings, is held for long-term rental 
yields or for capital appreciation or both, and that is not occupied by the Group. It also includes property 
that are being constructed or developed for future use as investment property.

Investment property comprises land and buildings held under operating leases.

Land held under operating leases are accounted for as investment property when the rest of the 
definition of an investment property is met. In such cases, the operating leases concerned are accounted 
for as if they were finance leases.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.8 Investment property (Continued)

Investment property is initially measured at cost, including related transaction costs and where 
applicable borrowing costs. After initial recognition at cost, investment property is carried at fair value, 
representing open market value determined at each reporting date by external valuers. Fair value is based 
on active market prices, adjusted, if necessary, for any difference in the nature, location or condition of 
the specific asset. If the information is not available, the Group uses alternative valuation methods such 
as recent prices on less active markets or discounted cash flow projections. Changes in fair values are 
recorded in the profit or loss as part of other gain or loss.

2.9 Impairment of non-financial assets

Assets that have an indefinite useful life or have not yet been available for use are not subject to 
amortization and are tested annually for impairment. Assets are reviewed for impairment whenever 
events or changes in circumstances indicate that the carrying amount may not be recoverable. An 
impairment loss is recognized for the amount by which the asset’s carrying amount exceeds its 
recoverable amount. The recoverable amount is the higher of an asset’s fair value less costs of disposal 
and value in use. For the purposes of assessing impairment, assets are grouped at the lowest levels for 
which there are separately identifiable cash flows (cash-generating unit). Non-financial assets other than 
goodwill that suffered impairment are reviewed for possible reversal of the impairment at each reporting 
date.

2.10 Assets classified as held for sale

Assets are classified as held for sale when their carrying amounts are to be recovered principally through 
sale transactions and sales are considered highly probable. The assets are stated at the lower of carrying 
amount and fair value less costs of disposal. Deferred tax assets, assets arising from employee benefits, 
financial assets (other than investments in subsidiaries) and investment property, even if held for sale, 
would continue to be measured in accordance with the policies set out elsewhere in Note 2.

2.11 Financial assets

(a) Classification

The Group’s financial assets are mainly loans and receivables. The classification depends on the 
purpose for which the financial assets were acquired. Management determines the classification of 
its financial assets at initial recognition. Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets 
with fixed or determinable payments that are not quoted in an active market. They are included 
in current assets, except for the amounts that are settled or expected to be settled more than 12 
months after the end of the reporting period. These are classified as non-current assets. The Group’s 
financial assets comprise trade and other receivables (Notes 20 and 21), pledged deposits and cash 
and cash equivalents (Note 22) in the consolidated statement of financial position.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.11 Financial assets (Continued)

(b) Recognition and measurement

Regular way purchases and sales of financial assets are recognized on the trade-date – the date on 
which the Group commits to purchase or sell the asset. Loans and receivables are subsequently 
carried at amortized cost using the effective interest method.

2.12 Impairment of financial assets carried at amortized cost

The Group assesses at the end of each reporting period whether there is objective evidence that a 
financial asset or group of financial assets is impaired. A financial asset or a group of financial assets is 
impaired and impairment losses are incurred only if there is objective evidence of impairment as a result 
of one or more events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a ‘loss event’) and that loss 
event (or events) has an impact on the estimated future cash flows of the financial asset or group of 
financial assets that can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the debtor or a group of debtors is experiencing 
significant financial difficulty, default or delinquency in interest or principal payments, the probability 
that they will enter bankruptcy or other financial reorganization, and where observable data indicates 
that there is a measurable decrease in the estimated future cash flows, such as changes in arrears or 
economic conditions that correlate with defaults.

For loans and receivables category, the amount of the loss is measured as the difference between the 
asset’s carrying amount and the present value of estimated future cash flows (excluding future credit 
losses that have not been incurred) discounted at the financial asset’s original effective interest rate. The 
carrying amount of the asset is reduced and the amount of the loss is recognized in the profit or loss. 
If a loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current 
effective interest rate determined under the contract. As a practical expedient, the Group may measure 
impairment on the basis of an instrument’s fair value using an observable market price.

If, in a subsequent period, the amount of the impairment loss decreases and the decrease can be related 
objectively to an event occurring after the impairment was recognized (such as an improvement in the 
debtor’s credit rating), the reversal of the previously recognized impairment loss is recognized in the 
profit or loss.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.13 Trade and other receivables

Trade and other receivables are amounts due from customers for goods sold in the ordinary course of 
business. If collection of trade and other receivables is expected in one year or less, they are classified as 
current assets. If not, they are presented as non-current assets.

Trade and other receivables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method, less provision for impairment.

2.14 Inventories

Inventories are stated at the lower of cost and net realizable value. Cost is determined using the 
weighted-average method. The cost of finished goods and work in progress comprises raw materials, 
direct labor, other direct costs and related production overheads (based on normal operating capacity). 
It excludes borrowing costs. Net realizable value is the estimated selling price in the ordinary course of 
business, less applicable variable selling expenses.

2.15 Cash and cash equivalents

In the consolidated statement of cash flows, cash and cash equivalents include cash in hand and deposits 
held at call with banks.

2.16 Share capital

Ordinary shares are classified as equity.

Incremental costs directly attributable to the issue of new shares or options are shown in equity as a 
deduction, net of tax, from the proceeds.

2.17 Trade and other payables

Trade payables are obligations to pay for goods or services that have been acquired in the ordinary 
course of business from suppliers. Trade and other payables are classified as current liabilities if payment 
is due within one year or less. If not, they are presented as non-current liabilities.

Trade and other payables are recognized initially at fair value and subsequently measured at amortized 
cost using the effective interest method.



CHINA CREATIVE GLOBAL HOLDINGS LIMITED Annual Report 2016 61

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.18 Borrowings and borrowing costs

Borrowings are recognized initially at fair value, net of transaction costs incurred. Borrowings are 
subsequently stated at amortized cost; any difference between the proceeds (net of transaction costs) 
and the redemption value is recognized in the profit or loss over the period of the borrowings using the 
effective interest method.

Borrowings are classified as current liabilities unless the Group has an unconditional right to defer 
settlement of the liability for at least 12 months after the end of reporting period.

General and specific borrowing costs directly attributable to the acquisition, construction or production 
of qualifying assets, which are assets that necessarily take a substantial period of time to get ready 
for their intended use or sale, are added to the cost of those assets, until such time as the assets are 
substantially ready for their intended use or sale.

All other borrowing costs are recognized in the profit or loss in the period in which they are incurred.

2.19 Current and deferred income tax

The tax expense for the period comprises current and deferred tax. Tax is recognized in the profit or 
loss, except to the extent that it relates to items recognized as other comprehensive income or directly 
in equity. In this case the tax is also recognized as other comprehensive income or directly in equity, 
respectively.

The current income tax charge is calculated on the basis of the tax laws enacted or substantively enacted 
at the end of reporting periods in the countries where the Group’s entities operate and generate taxable 
income. Management periodically evaluates positions taken in tax returns with respect to situations in 
which applicable tax regulation is subject to interpretation. It establishes provisions where appropriate 
on the basis of amounts expected to be paid to the tax authorities.

Deferred income tax is recognized, using the liability method, on temporary differences arising between 
the tax bases of assets and liabilities and their carrying amounts in the consolidated financial statements. 
However, the deferred income tax is not accounted for if it arises from initial recognition of an asset 
or liability in a transaction other than a business combination that at the time of the transaction affects 
neither accounting nor taxable profit nor loss. Deferred income tax is determined using tax rates (and 
laws) that have been enacted or substantially enacted by the end of reporting periods and are expected to 
apply when the related deferred income tax asset is realized or the deferred income tax liability is settled.

Deferred income tax assets are recognized only to the extent that it is probable that future taxable profit 
will be available against which the temporary differences can be utilized.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.19 Current and deferred income tax (Continued)

Deferred income tax is provided on temporary differences arising on investments in subsidiaries, except 
where the timing of the reversal of the temporary difference is controlled by the Group and it is probable 
that the temporary difference will not reverse in the foreseeable future.

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to offset 
current tax assets against current tax liabilities and when the deferred income taxes assets and liabilities 
relate to income taxes levied by the same taxation authority on either the taxable entity or different 
taxable entities where there is an intention to settle the balance on a net basis.

2.20 Provisions

Provisions are recognized when the Group has a present legal or constructive obligation as a result of 
past events; it is probable that an outflow of resources will be required to settle the obligation; and the 
amount has been reliably estimated. Provisions are not recognized for future operating losses.

Where there are a number of similar obligations, the likelihood that an outflow will be required in 
settlement is determined by considering the class of obligations as a whole. A provision is recognized 
even if the likelihood of an outflow with respect to any one item included in the same class of obligations 
may be small.

Provisions are measured at the present value of the expenditures expected to be required to settle the 
obligation using a pre-tax rate that reflects current market assessments of the time value of money and 
the risks specific to the obligation. The increase in the provision due to passage of time is recognized as 
interest expense.

2.21 Derivative financial liabilities

Derivatives are initially recognized at fair value on the date a derivative contract is entered into and 
are subsequently re-measured at their fair value. The method of recognizing the resulting gain or loss 
depends on whether the derivative is designated as a hedging instrument, and if so, the nature of the item 
being hedged.

Changes in the fair value of derivative instruments not qualified for hedge accounting are recognized 
immediately in the profit or loss.
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2.22 Employee benefits

(a) Pension obligations

Full time employees of the Group’s PRC entities participate in a government mandated multi-
employer defined contribution plan pursuant to which certain pension benefits, medical care, 
unemployment insurance, employee housing fund and other welfare benefits are provided to 
employees. Chinese labor regulations require the Group to accrue for these benefits based on certain 
percentages of the employees’ salaries. Full time employees who have passed the probation period 
are entitled to such benefits.

The Group also participates in defined contribution schemes which are available to Hong Kong 
employees. Contributions are made based on a percentage of the employees’ basic salaries or a fixed 
sum and are charged to the profit or loss as incurred. The assets of the schemes are held separately 
from those of the Group in an independently administered fund.

The Group has no further payment obligations once the contributions have been paid. The 
contributions are recognized as employee benefit expenses when they are due and are reduced 
by contributions forfeited by those employees who leave the scheme prior to vesting fully in the 
contributions. Prepaid contributions are recognized as an asset to the extent that a cash refund or a 
reduction in the future payments is available.

(b) Employee leaves entitlement

Employee entitlements to annual leave are recognized when they accrue to employees. A provision is 
made for the estimated liability for annual leave as a result of services rendered by employees up to 
the reporting date. Employee entitlements to sick leave and maternity leave are not recognized until 
the time of leave.

(c) Bonus plans

The Group recognizes a liability and an expense for bonuses, based on performance and taking into 
consideration the profit attributable to the Company’s shareholders after certain adjustments. The 
Group recognizes a provision where contractually obliged or where there is a past practice that has 
created a constructive obligation.
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2.23 Revenue recognition

Revenue is measured at the fair value of the consideration received or receivable for the sales of goods 
in the ordinary course of the Group’s activities. Revenue is shown net of value added taxes and after 
eliminating sales within the Group. The Group recognizes revenue when the amount of revenue can be 
reliably measured; when it is probable that future economic benefits will flow to the entity; and when 
specific criteria have been met for each of the Group’s activities, as described below. The Group bases 
its estimates of return on historical results, taking into consideration the type of customer, the type of 
transaction and the specifics of each arrangement.

(a) Sales of goods

Revenue from the sales of goods is recognized when significant risks and rewards of ownership 
of the goods are transferred to the customer, and the customer has accepted the products and 
collectability of the related receivables is reasonably assumed.

(b) Interest income

Interest income is recognized on a time-proportion basis using the effective interest method.

(c) Rental income

Rental income from investment property is recognized when it is probable that future economic 
benefits will flow to the Group, taking into consideration of the credit quality and settlement history 
of the tenants, and on a straight-line basis over the term of the lease.

2.24 Leases – as a lessee

Leases in which a significant portion of the risks and rewards of ownership are retained by the lessor are 
classified as operating leases. Payments made under operating leases (net of any incentives received from 
the lessor) are charged to the profit or loss on a straight-line basis over the period of the lease.
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2.25 Research and development costs

Costs associated with research are recognized as an expense as incurred. Development costs that are 
directly attributable to the design and testing of identifiable and unique products controlled by the 
Group are recognized as intangible assets when the following criteria are met:

• It is technically feasible to complete the home decor products and electric fireplaces so that it will be 
available for use;

• Management intends to complete the home decor products and electric fireplaces and use or sell it;

• There is an ability to use or sell the home decor products and electric fireplaces;

• It can be demonstrated how the home decor products and electric fireplaces will generate probable 
future economic benefits;

• Adequate technical, financial and other resources to complete the development and to use or sell the 
home decor products and electric fireplaces are available; and

• The expenditure attributable to the home decor products and electric fireplaces during its 
development can be reliably measured.

Development expenditures that do not meet these criteria are recognized as an expense as incurred. 
Development costs previously recognized as an expense are not recognized as an asset in a subsequent 
period.

2.26 Dividend distribution

Dividend distribution to the Company’s shareholders is recognized as a liability in the period in 
which the dividends are declared by the Directors in the case of interim dividends or approved by the 
Company’s shareholders in the case of final dividends.

2.27 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets

A contingent liability is a possible obligation that arises from past events and whose existence will only 
be confirmed by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain future events not wholly 
within the control of the Group. It can also be a present obligation arising from past events that is not 
recognized because it is not probable that outflow of economic resource will be required or the amount 
of obligation cannot be measured reliably.

A contingent liability is not recognized but is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements. When a 
change in the probability of an outflow occurs so that outflow is probable, it will then be recognized as a 
provision.
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2 SUMMARY OF SIGNIFICANT ACCOUNTING POLICIES (Continued)

2.27 Contingent liabilities and contingent assets (Continued)

A contingent asset is a possible asset that arises from past events and whose existence will be confirmed 
only by the occurrence or non-occurrence of one or more uncertain events not wholly within the control 
of the Group.

A contingent asset is not recognized but is disclosed in the notes to the financial statements when an 
inflow of economic benefits is probable. When inflow is virtually certain, an asset is recognized.

3 FINANCIAL RISK MANAGEMENT

3.1 Financial risk factors

The Group’s activities expose it to a variety of financial risks: market risk (including foreign currency 
risk and interest rate risk), credit risk and liquidity risk. The Group’s overall risk management program 
focuses on the unpredictability of financial markets and seeks to minimize potential adverse effects on 
the Group’s financial performance.

Risk management is carried out by the Group’s management under the supervision of the Board of 
Directors. The Group’s management identifies, evaluates and manages significant financial risks in 
the Group’s individual operating units. The Board of Directors provides guidance for overall risk 
management.

(a) Market risk

(i) Foreign currency risk

The Company and all of its subsidiaries’ functional currency is RMB and the major non-RMB 
assets and liabilities are cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, borrowings 
and other payables denominated in Hong Kong dollar (“HKD”) and the United States dollar 
(“USD”).

The cash and cash equivalents, trade and other receivables, borrowings and other payables 
denominated in foreign currencies are subject to retranslation at each reporting date. 
Fluctuation of the exchange rates of RMB against foreign currencies could affect the Group’s 
results of operations.

Management of the Group continues to monitor foreign exchange exposure and will consider 
hedging significant foreign currency exposure should the need arises.
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(a) Market risk (Continued)

(i) Foreign currency risk (Continued)

As at 31 December 2016, if RMB had weakened/strengthened by 5% against HKD and USD, 
with all other variables held constant, the Group’s post-tax loss for the year would have 
been approximately RMB5,464,000 higher/lower (2015: post-tax profit would have been 
approximately RMB3,192,000 higher/lower), mainly as a result of net foreign exchange losses/
gains on translation of HKD and USD denominated cash and cash equivalents, trade and other 
receivables, borrowings and other payables.

(ii) Interest rate risk

Cash flow and fair value interest rate risk refers to the changes in cash flows or fair value of a 
financial instrument as a result of fluctuations in market interest rates.

Pledged deposits, cash and cash equivalents and borrowings at fixed rates expose the Group to 
fair value interest-rate risk, and those at variable rates expose the Group to cash flow interest-
rate risk.

The Group currently does not use any derivative contracts to hedge its exposure to interest rate 
risk. Management monitors interest rate fluctuations to ensure that exposure to interest rate 
risk is within an acceptable level and will consider hedging significant interest rate exposure 
should the need arises.

As at 31 December 2016, if interest rates on cash and cash equivalents and borrowings with 
floating rates had been 100 basis-points higher/lower with all other variables held constant, the 
Group’s post-tax loss for the year would have been approximately RMB6,369,000 higher/lower 
(2015: post-tax profit would have been approximately RMB5,492,000 lower/higher).
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(b) Credit risk

Credit risk mainly arises from cash and cash equivalents, trade receivables and other receivables. 
The carrying amounts of each of these financial assets represent the Group’s maximum exposure to 
credit risk in relation to its financial assets.

For credit risks in respect of cash and cash equivalents, the Group managed the risk by placing 
cash and cash equivalents with major local banks and state-owned banks in the PRC and Hong 
Kong with good credit standing. For credit risk in respect of trade receivables from customers and 
other receivables, the Group has policies in place to ensure that sales or transactions are made to 
reputable and credit-worthy customers or counter-parties with an appropriate financial strength 
and credit history. The management is responsible for managing and analyzing the credit risk for 
each of their new clients before standard payment and delivery terms and conditions are offered. 
In order to minimize the credit risk, management of the Group has delegated a team responsible 
for determination of credit limits, credit approvals and other monitoring procedures to ensure that 
follow-up action is taken to recover overdue debts.

In addition, The Group actively monitors the financial situations of its customers who are affected 
by the market downturn by regularly reviews the credit profiles, business prospects, background and 
financial capability of the customers. As a result, management has made a provision for doubtful 
debts of RMB2,378,000 (2015: Nil) for one of the customers during the year ended 31 December 
2016.

As at 31 December 2016, there were 2 customers (2015: 1) which individually contributed over 10% 
of the Group’s trade receivables. The amount of trade receivables from these customers amounted 
to 27% (2015: 17%) of the Group’s total trade receivables. The Group had assessed the credit quality 
of this customer, taking into account their financial positions, past experience and other factors, and 
considered that the credit risk is limited.
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3.1 Financial risk factors (Continued)

(c) Liquidity risk

Prudent liquidity risk management implies maintaining sufficient cash, the availability of funding 
through an adequate amount of committed credit facilities and through collection from customers. 
The Group finances its working capital requirements through a combination of funds generated 
from operations, borrowings (Note 27) and capital injection from owners of the Company. The 
Group maintains sufficient banking facilities to manage its working capital requirements.

The table below analyzes the Group’s non-derivative financial liabilities into relevant maturity 
grouping based on the remaining period at the end of reporting periods to the contractual maturity 
date. The amounts disclosed in the table are the contractual undiscounted cash flows.

Less than 
1 year or 

repayable on 
demand

Between 
1 to 2 years

Between 
2 to 5 years

Over 
5 years

Carrying 
amount

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000      

At 31 December 2016
Trade and other payables 

(excluded other tax payables and 
deposits received in advance) 37,387 – – – 37,387

Borrowings 50,247 9,875 136,732 11,043 176,071     

87,634 9,875 136,732 11,043 213,458     

At 31 December 2015
Trade and other payables 

(excluded other tax payables and 
deposits received in advance) 159,780 – – – 159,780

Borrowings 50,880 – – – 49,000     

210,660 – – – 208,780     
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3.2 Capital risk management

The Group’s objectives when managing capital are to safeguard the Group’s ability to continue as a going 
concern in order to provide returns for shareholders and benefits for other stakeholders and to maintain 
an optimal capital structure to reduce the cost of capital.

The Directors of the Company regularly monitor the capital structure, which consists of the equity 
attributable to the Company’s shareholders as disclosed in the consolidated statement of financial 
position. In order to maintain or adjust the capital structure, the Group may adjust the amount of 
dividends paid to shareholders, issue new shares or dispose of assets to reduce debts.

The Group monitors capital on the basis of the gearing ratio. The ratio is calculated as total debt divided 
by total equity. Total debt includes all interest bearing borrowings. Total capital represents total equity as 
shown in the consolidated statement of financial position. The Group’s strategy is to maintain a gearing 
ratio of below 20%.

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Total debt 176,071 49,000
Total equity 2,253,465 2,346,528  

Gearing ratio 7.8% 2.1%  

As at 31 December 2016, the increase in gearing ratio was mainly resulted from increase in borrowings.

4 FAIR VALUE ESTIMATION

The Group’s financial instruments carried at fair value as at balance sheet date are measured by the inputs to 
valuation techniques. Such inputs are categorized into three levels within a fair value hierarchy as follows:

• Quoted prices (unadjusted) in active markets for identical assets or liabilities (level 1).

• Inputs other than quoted prices included within level 1 that are observable for the asset or liability, either 
directly (that is, as prices) or indirectly (that is, derived from prices) (level 2).

• Inputs for the asset or liability that are not based on observable market data (that is, unobservable inputs) 
(level 3).

There has been no transfer of financial assets and liabilities between levels 1, 2 and 3 during the year.
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Assets and liabilities held by the Group using the fair value method include investment property and assets 
classified as held for sale (Notes 16 and 23). In addition, management also performed an impairment 
assessment on the Group’s property, plant and equipment in Anhui and the assessment involved fair value 
method. Details of which are disclosed in Note 15.

For other current financial assets of the Group, including trade and other receivables, pledged deposits, cash 
and cash equivalents, and current financial liabilities of the Group including trade and other payables and 
short-term borrowings approximate their fair values due to their short term maturities.

The Group does not have any financial assets/liabilities that are subject to offsetting, enforceable master 
netting arrangements and similar agreements during the year.

5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS

Estimates and judgments are continually evaluated and are based on historical experience and other factors, 
including expectations of future events that are believed to be reasonable under the circumstances.

The Group makes estimates and assumptions concerning the future. The resulting accounting estimates will, 
by definition, seldom equal the related actual results. The estimates and assumptions that have a significant 
risk of causing a material adjustment to the carrying amounts of assets and liabilities within the next year are 
discussed below.

5.1 Impairment of non-financial assets

The Group follows the guidance of HKAS 36 “Impairment of Assets” to determine when assets are 
impaired, which requires significant judgment. 

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s operation in Anhui, which represents a separate 
CGU, has been making losses in two consecutive years and management considers that there is 
an indicator that property, plant and equipment located in Anhui may be impaired. Therefore, 
management has performed an impairment assessment on the property, plant and equipment of that 
CGU and an impairment provision of RMB54,039,000 has been made as at 31 December 2016. Details of 
the assessment are disclosed in Note 15.

5.2 Useful lives of property, plant and equipment

The Group’s management determines the estimated useful lives, and related depreciation and 
amortization charges for its property, plant and equipment. The estimates are based on the historical 
experience of the actual useful lives of property, plant and equipment of similar nature and functions. 
Management will increase the depreciation and amortization charges where useful lives are less than 
previously estimated lives. It will write off or write down technically obsolete or non-strategic assets 
that have been abandoned or sold. Actual economic lives may differ from estimated useful lives. 
Periodic review could result in a change in depreciable and amortization lives and therefore affect the 
depreciation and amortization charges in future periods.
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5 CRITICAL ACCOUNTING ESTIMATES AND JUDGMENTS (Continued)

5.3 Provision for impairment of receivables and deposits

Significant judgment is exercised on the assessment of the collectability of trade receivables from each 
customer or counterparty. In making its judgment, management considers a wide range of factors such 
as results of follow-up procedures performed by sales personnel, payment trends including subsequent 
payments and customers’ or counterparties’ financial position.

5.4 Income taxes and deferred income taxes

Significant judgment is required in determining the provision for income taxes and deferred income 
taxes. There are many transactions and calculations for which the ultimate determination is uncertain 
during the ordinary course of business. Where the final tax outcome of these matters is different from the 
amounts that were initially recorded, such difference will impact the income tax and deferred income tax 
provisions in the period in which such determination is made.

Deferred income tax liabilities have not been established for withholding tax that would be payable on 
certain profits of PRC subsidiaries to be repatriated and distributed by way of dividends as the Directors 
consider that the timing of the reversal of the related temporary differences can be controlled and such 
temporary differences will not be reversed in the future.

If those undistributed earnings of the PRC subsidiaries are considered to be repatriated and distributed 
by way of dividends, deferred income tax liabilities would have been increased by approximately 
RMB49,688,000 (2015: RMB49,981,000).

5.5 Fair value of investment property

The Group carries its investment property at fair value with changes in the fair value recognized in 
the profit or loss. Independent valuations are performed at least once a year. In making the judgment, 
consideration is given to assumptions that are mainly based on market conditions existing at the end 
of reporting period, expected rental from future leases in the light of current market conditions and 
appropriate capitalization rates. Changes in subjective input assumptions can materially affect the fair 
value estimate. The key assumptions used in the valuation in determining the fair value of the Group’s 
investment of property are set out in Note 16.
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6 SEGMENT REPORTING

Management has determined the operating segments based on the reports reviewed by the chief operating 
decision-maker that are used to make strategic decisions.

The chief operating decision-maker is identified as the executive directors of the Company. The executive 
directors consider the business from a product perspective and assess the performance of the operating 
segments based on a measure of revenue and segment results.

The Group’s two reportable operating segments are as follows:

Electric fireplaces and air purifiers – Design, development, manufacturing and sales of electric 
fireplaces and air purifiers

Home decor products – Design, development, manufacturing and sales of home 
decor products and humidifiers

Other activities primarily relate to investment in an associate, provision of corporate services for investment 
holding companies and holding corporate assets and liabilities. Corporate assets and liabilities mainly 
include investment property held for rental income, investment in an associate, property, plant and 
equipment and land use rights for corporate use. These activities are excluded from the reportable operating 
segments.

Segment assets consist primarily of certain property, plant and equipment, land use rights, inventories, trade 
receivables, deposits, prepayments and other receivables, pledged deposits and cash and cash equivalents. 
They exclude investment property, investment in an associate and other assets for corporate functions.

Segment liabilities consist primarily of trade and other payables. They exclude current income tax liabilities, 
deferred income tax liabilities, general borrowings and other liabilities for corporate functions.

All non-current assets of the Group are located in the PRC.
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6 SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

The segment information provided to the executive directors is as follows:

Electric 
fireplaces 

and air 
purifiers

Home decor 
products Others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000     

For the year ended 31 December 2016:

Segment revenue
– PRC 144,403 112,541 – 256,944
– International 57,221 47,323 – 104,544    

201,624 159,864 – 361,488
Less: Inter-segment revenue – (11,744) – (11,744)    

Revenue from external customers 201,624 148,120 – 349,744    

Segment results  (49,982) (2,677) (23,261) (75,920)

Unallocated expense (667)
Finance costs (16,254)
Share of loss of an associate (533) 

Loss before income tax (93,374)
Income tax expense (2,144) 

Loss for the year (95,518) 

Other segment items:
Additions to:

Property, plant and equipment 17,572 413 78 18,063
Depreciation and amortization 27,064 1,709 667 29,440
Impairment provision of property, 

plant and equipment 54,039 – – 54,039
Fair value loss on an investment property – – 12,000 12,000
Interest income 850 834 2,288 3,972    

As at 31 December 2016:
Segment assets 1,654,903 496,418 323,676 2,474,997

Segment liabilities 18,976 15,389 187,167 221,532    
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6 SEGMENT REPORTING (Continued)

Electric 
fireplaces 

and air 
purifiers

Home decor 
products Others Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000     

For the year ended 31 December 2015:

Segment revenue
– PRC 621,287 453,171 – 1,074,458
– International 150,858 92,317 – 243,175    

772,145 545,488 – 1,317,633
Less: Inter-segment revenue – (35,707) – (35,707)    

Revenue from external customers 772,145 509,781 – 1,281,926    

Segment results 243,786 111,792 15,943 371,521

Unallocated expense (685)
Finance costs (3,612) 

Profit before income tax 367,224
Income tax expense (68,231) 

Profit for the year 298,993 

Other segment items:
Additions to:

Property, plant and equipment 112,673 8,709 15,062 136,444
Land use rights 76,624 14,661 – 91,285

Depreciation and amortization 21,571 1,502 685 23,758
Fair value gain on an investment property – – 300 300
Interest income 955 940 3,173 5,068
Gain upon lapse of warrants – – 18,000 18,000    

As at 31 December 2015:
Segment assets 1,858,746 597,300 144,615 2,600,661

Segment liabilities 84,313 86,546 83,274 254,133    

There is no individual external customer contributed more than 10% revenue of the Group’s revenue for the 
year ended 31 December 2016 (2015: Nil).
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7 REVENUE AND OTHER INCOME

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Sales of products
– Electric fireplaces 193,506 602,203
– Air purifiers 8,118 169,942
– Home decor products (exclude humidifiers) 147,831 469,721
– Humidifiers 289 40,060  

349,744 1,281,926  

Other income
– Interest income 3,972 5,068
– Rental income 690 5,617
– Others – 62  

4,662 10,747  
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8 EXPENSES BY NATURE

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Raw materials used (note (i)) 158,139 557,072
Packaging and other consumables used 19,328 60,738
Changes in inventories of finished goods and 

work in progress 12,592 18,611
Depreciation of property, plant and equipment (Note 15) 25,129 20,262
Amortization of land use rights (Note 17) 4,311 3,496
Employee benefit expenses (Note 9)/(note (i)) 79,224 168,597
Auditor’s remuneration – audit services 3,424 3,084
Legal and professional fees 2,239 1,485
Bad debts written-off (Note 20) 165 1,806
Provision for doubtful debts (Note 20) 2,378 –
Inventories written-off 6,644 –
Delivery expenses 4,628 15,196
Electricity and utilities 4,616 13,749
Operating lease rentals 1,952 2,676
Travelling expenses 1,209 1,220
Advertising and promotion expenses 11,060 21,271
Product consultation expenses (note (i)) 3,774 12,278
Direct operating expenses in respect of investment 

property that generates rental income 319 319
Other expenses 23,048 43,645  

Total cost of sales, selling and distribution costs and 
administrative expenses 364,179 945,505  

Note:

(i) Research and development expenses comprise of:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Employee benefit expenses 5,866 6,374
Cost of raw materials used 5,234 7,970
Product consultation expense (note) 3,774 12,278  

14,874 26,622  

Note:

It mainly represents consultation services provided by University of Shanghai for Science and Technology for product design and 
development and the service contract has been completed during the year ended 31 December 2016.
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9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES

The analysis of employee benefit expenses is as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Wages and salaries (including discretionary bonuses) 
and other benefits 60,095 127,177

Social security and pension costs 19,129 41,420  

79,224 168,597  

Employee benefit expenses have been charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as 
follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Cost of sales 49,519 139,956
Administrative expenses 26,266 23,388
Selling and distribution costs 3,439 5,253  

79,224 168,597  

(a) Five highest paid individuals

During the year, the five individuals whose emoluments were the highest in the Group included 3 
directors (2015: 3), whose emoluments were reflected in the analysis shown in Note 34. The emoluments 
paid or payable to the remaining individuals during the year were as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Wages and salaries (including discretionary bonuses) 
and other benefits 1,438 990

Social security and pension costs 31 97  

1,469 1,087  
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9 EMPLOYEE BENEFIT EXPENSES (Continued)

(a) Five highest paid individuals (Continued)

The emoluments of these remaining individuals fell within the following band:

2016 2015
Number Number   

Emolument band (in HKD)
Nil – HKD1,000,000 2 2  

10 OTHER (LOSSES)/GAINS – NET

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Fair value (loss)/gain on an investment property (12,000) 300
Gain upon lapse of warrants – 18,000
Net foreign exchange (loss)/gain (775) 5,493
Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – (125)  

(12,775) 23,668  

11 FINANCE COSTS

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Interest expense on borrowings 10,784 3,612
Net foreign exchange loss 6,017 –
Less: interest capitalized (note) (547) –  

16,254 3,612  

Note:

For the year ended 31 December 2016, interest was capitalized at the weighted average rate of 3.56%.
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12 INCOME TAX EXPENSE

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Current income tax 4,515 65,501
Withholding tax 3,154 3,750
Under/(over) provision in prior years 484 (889)
Deferred income tax (Note 28) (6,009) (131)  

Total taxation charge 2,144 68,231  

(i) Cayman Islands profits tax

The Company is not subject to any taxation in the Cayman Islands.

(ii) Hong Kong profits tax

No provision for Hong Kong profits tax has been made as the Group does not have any assessable profits 
in Hong Kong for the year (2015: Nil).

(iii) PRC enterprise income tax (“EIT”)

Under the Enterprise Income Tax Law of the PRC (the “New EIT Law”), the applicable income tax rate 
for the Group’s entities in the PRC, except for Allen Electronics Co., Ltd. Fujian, is 25%.

Pursuant to the New EIT Law, with respect to a new and high technology enterprise, the tax levied on its 
income will be charged at a preferential rate of 15% after obtaining the High New Technology Enterprise 
Certificate (the “Certificate”) and completing the tax reduction and exemption filing with the tax 
authorities. Allen Electronics Co., Ltd. Fujian obtained the Certificate on 5 September 2013 and renewed 
the Certificate on 1 December 2016. The Certificate will expire on 30 November 2019.

(iv) Withholding tax on distributed profits

Pursuant to the New EIT Law, a 10% withholding tax is levied on dividends declared by PRC companies 
to their foreign investors. A lower withholding tax rate of 5% is applicable if direct foreign investors with 
at least 25% equity interest in the PRC company are incorporated in Hong Kong and meet the relevant 
requirements pursuant to the tax arrangement between the PRC and Hong Kong. Since the equity holder 
of the PRC subsidiaries of the Company is a Hong Kong incorporated company, the Company has used 
5% to provide for deferred tax liabilities on retained earnings which are anticipated to be distributed as 
at 31 December 2016 and 2015.
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12 INCOME TAX EXPENSE (Continued)

The income tax on the Group’s (loss)/profit before income tax differs from the theoretical amount that would 
arise using the domestic tax rates applicable to profits of the Group’s entities as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

(Loss)/profit before income tax (93,374) 367,224
Add: share of loss of an associate (Note 18) 533 –  

(92,841) 367,224  

Tax calculated at domestic tax rates applicable to profits 
in the respective countries (19,102) 86,881

Effects of the preferential tax rates (989) (24,002)
Expenses not deductible for taxation purposes 588 130
Temporary difference not recognized 13,510 –
Tax losses not recognized 6,999 2,034
Under/(over) provision in prior years 484 (889)
Withholding tax 654 4,077  

Tax charge 2,144 68,231  
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13 (LOSS)/EARNINGS PER SHARE

Basic (loss)/earnings per share is calculated by dividing the (loss)/profit attributable to owners of the 
Company by the weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue during the year.

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

(Loss)/profit attributable to owners of the Company (95,518) 298,993  

Weighted average number of ordinary shares in issue 
(in thousands) 1,983,005 1,885,773  

Basic (loss)/earnings per share 
(expressed in RMB per share) (0.05) 0.16  

Note:

Diluted earnings/(loss) per share for the years ended 31 December 2015 and 2016 equal the basic earnings/(loss) per share as there were 
no dilutive potential ordinary shares outstanding during the years.

14 DIVIDEND

Dividend declared and proposed:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Final dividend, proposed after the end of the reporting 
period, Nil (2015: HKD1.5 cents) per ordinary share – 25,423  

On 22 March 2016, the Board of Directors proposed a final dividend of HKD1.5 cent per ordinary share, 
totaling HKD29,700,000 (equivalent to approximately RMB25,423,000). Such dividend was approved by the 
shareholders at the annual general meeting of the Company on 10 May 2016 and paid in July 2016.

The Directors do not recommend the payment of a final dividend for the year ended 31 December 2016.
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT

Buildings
Plant and 

machinery
Office 

equipment
Motor 

vehicles
Construction 

in progress Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000       

At 1 January 2015
Cost 483,531 28,682 2,833 1,785 90,224 607,055
Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment loss (20,248) (11,574) (1,170) (1,159) – (34,151)      

Net book amount 463,283 17,108 1,663 626 90,224 572,904      

Year ended 31 December 2015
Opening net book amount 463,283 17,108 1,663 626 90,224 572,904
Additions – 8,726 280 382 127,056 136,444
Transfer 202,880 – – – (202,880) –
Disposals – (125) – – – (125)
Depreciation (note (a)) (16,745) (2,801) (419) (297) – (20,262)      

Closing net book amount 649,418 22,908 1,524 711 14,400 688,961      

As at 31 December 2015
Cost 686,411 37,280 3,113 2,167 14,400 743,371
Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment loss (36,993) (14,372) (1,589) (1,456) – (54,410)      

Net book amount 649,418 22,908 1,524 711 14,400 688,961      

Year ended 31 December 2016
Opening net book amount 649,418 22,908 1,524 711 14,400 688,961
Additions – 203 78 – 17,782 18,063
Transfer 32,182 – – – (32,182) –
Depreciation (note (a)) (21,165) (3,245) (420) (299) – (25,129)
Impairment loss (note (b)) (54,039) – – – – (54,039)      

Closing net book amount 606,396 19,866 1,182 412 – 627,856      

As at 31 December 2016
Cost 718,593 37,483 3,191 2,167 – 761,434
Accumulated depreciation and 

impairment loss (112,197) (17,617) (2,009) (1,755) – (133,578)      

Net book amount 606,396 19,866 1,182 412 – 627,856      
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15 PROPERTY, PLANT AND EQUIPMENT (Continued)

Notes:

(a) Depreciation expenses have been charged to the consolidated statement of comprehensive income as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Cost of sales 7,522 7,591
Administrative expenses 17,564 12,587
Selling and distribution costs 43 84  

25,129 20,262  

(b) As at 31 December 2016, the Group had property, plant and equipment of approximately RMB428,006,000 located in Anhui, the 
PRC. For the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group’s operation in Anhui, which represents a separate CGU, has been making 
losses in two consecutive years and management considers that there is an impairment indicator on property, plant and equipment 
in Anhui. Therefore, management has performed an impairment assessment on the property, plant and equipment of that CGU. In 
view of the current status of that CGU, management considered that the recoverable amount of that CGU calculated based on fair 
value less costs of disposal would be higher than the amount estimated by using value-in-use calculation. Therefore, management 
decided to determine the recoverable amount of that CGU based on fair value less costs of disposal.

To determine the recoverable amount, management has engaged an independent professional valuer (“Valuer”) to perform a 
valuation, taking into account the current status of the assets and market price or transactions for similar assets. The valuation is 
categorized under level 2 of the fair value hierarchy.

Based on the result of the assessment, the recoverable amount of the assets of that CGU is lower than its carrying amount by 
RMB54,039,000. Therefore, management has provided an impairment provision of RMB54,039,000 for the property, plant and 
equipment.

(c) As at 31 December 2016, bank borrowings (2015: bank borrowings and bills payable) are secured by certain property, plant and 
equipment with an aggregate net book value of approximately RMB101,825,000 (2015: RMB81,365,000) (Notes 26 and 27)
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16 INVESTMENT PROPERTY

Movements in the carrying amounts of investment property are summarized as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

At 1 January 122,400 122,100
Fair value (loss)/gain (12,000) 300  

At 31 December 110,400 122,400  

Investment property was valued at 31 December 2016 by an independent professionally qualified valuer, 
Roma Appraisals Limited, who is a member of the Hong Kong Institute of Surveyors and has appropriate 
qualifications and recent experiences in the valuation of similar properties.

Management reviews the valuation performed by the independent valuer for financial reporting purposes. 
The review includes verification of all major inputs to the valuation, assessing property valuation movements 
and discussions with the independent valuer. Management considers that the current use of the investment 
property equates the best use.

The valuation of the investment property as at 31 December 2016 is determined using income approach 
based on significant unobservable inputs and is recognized under level 3 of the fair value hierarchy. The 
directors and the valuer consider that it is appropriate to use income approach since management will hold 
the investment property for long-term rental yield and will not dispose of the investment property in the 
short run.

The key unobservable inputs of the valuation include reversionary yield of approximately 13% (2015: 11%), 
expected zero vacancy rate (2015: zero) and average monthly rental of RMB21 (2015: RMB26) per square 
meter during reversionary period. These assumptions are estimated by the valuer based on the risk profile of 
the property being valued.

17 LAND USE RIGHTS

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

At 1 January 209,535 121,746
Additions – 91,285
Amortization (4,311) (3,496)  

At 31 December 205,224 209,535  

Amortization of the Group’s land use rights has been charged to administrative expenses in the consolidated 
statement of comprehensive income.
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18 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE

The amount recognized in the consolidated statement of financial position is as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

At 1 January – –
Acquisition of interest in an associate 211,353 –
Share of loss (533) –  

At 31 December 210,820 –  

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Group acquired 49% equity interest in Radiant Forever 
Development Limited (“Radiant”) from an independent third party. The acquisition was completed on 9 
December 2016 and the total consideration was HKD236,500,000 (equivalent to RMB211,353,000) which 
included i) a cash consideration of HKD205,000,000 (equivalent to RMB183,475,000) and ii) 50,000,000 
ordinary shares of the Company (Note 24).

The management assessed that the Group has significant influence but not control over Radiant, as such, 
Radiant is accounted for as an associate of the Group under equity method.

Set out below is the information of the associate of the Group as at 31 December 2016 which, in the opinion 
of the directors, is material to the Group. The associate listed below has share capital consisting solely of 
ordinary shares, which are held directly by the Group.
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18 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Nature of investment in an associate as at 31 December 2016:

Name
Place of 
incorporation

Principal 
activities Legal status

Paid up 
capital

Effective 
interest held 

as at 2016      

Directly held by the Group:
Radiant Forever Development 

Limited (“Radiant”)
Samoa Investment 

holding
Limited 

liability 
company

USD1,000,000 49%

Radiant is a private company and there is no quoted market price available for its shares.

Radiant directly held a subsidiary, Changsha Innovation Semiconductor Co. Ltd. (“Changsha Innovation”), 
which was incorporated in the PRC and is material to the Group. Details of Changsha Innovation as at 31 
December 2016 are set out below:

Name

Place of 
incorporation/
establishment

Principal 
activities

Legal 
status

Registered 
capital

Effective 
interest held 

by Radiant 
as at 2016      

Directly held by Radiant:
Changsha Innovation 

(長沙創芯集成電路
有限公司)

The PRC Design, 
manufacturing 
and sales of 
integrated 
circuits in the 
PRC

Limited 
liability 
company

USD31,000,000 100%

There are no contingent liabilities relating to the Group's interest in the associate.
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18 INVESTMENT IN AN ASSOCIATE (Continued)

Summarized consolidated financial information for Radiant

Set out below is the summarized consolidated financial information of Radiant which is accounted for by the 
Group using the equity method.

(Unaudited)
2016

RMB’000  

Assets and liabilities as at 31 December
Total current assets 84,103
Total non-current assets 718,026
Total current liabilities 653,132
Total non-current liabilities –

Profit or loss for the year ended 31 December
Revenue 46,311
Loss and total comprehensive loss for the year (19,598)
Dividend received from associate –

The information above reflects the amounts presented in the financial statements of the associate (and not 
Group’s share of those amounts) adjusted for differences in accounting policies between the Group and the 
associate.

Reconciliation of summarized consolidated financial information

Reconciliation of the summarized consolidated financial information presented to the carrying amount of its 
interest in the associate:

2016
RMB’000  

Net assets as at acquisition date (Unaudited) 150,085
Loss for the period since acquisition (Unaudited) (1,088) 

Closing net assets 148,997 

Interest in an associate (49%) 73,009
Goodwill 137,811 

Carrying value 210,820 
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19 INVENTORIES

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Raw materials 4,139 11,546
Work in progress 4,542 8,592
Finished goods 3,303 11,845  

11,984 31,983  

For the year ended 31 December 2016, the cost of inventories recognized as expense and included in cost of 
sales amounted to approximately, RMB244,201,000 (2015: RMB791,983,000).

20 TRADE RECEIVABLES

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Trade receivables 74,115 401,262
Less: provision for doubtful debts (2,378) –  

71,737 401,262  

Notes:

(a) The credit terms granted to customers by the Group were usually 60 to 90 days.

The aging analysis of trade receivables by invoice date is as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

0 to 30 days 10,874 96,354
31 to 60 days 14,315 109,597
61 to 90 days 12,548 137,875
Over 90 days 36,378 57,436  

74,115 401,262  
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20 TRADE RECEIVABLES (Continued)

Notes: (Continued)

(b) As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s trade receivables of RMB27,885,000 (2015: RMB252,036,000) are neither past due nor 
impaired.

As at 31 December 2016, trade receivables of RMB43,852,000 (2015: RMB149,226,000) were past due but not impaired. These relate 
to a number of independent customers for whom there is no recent history of default. The aging analysis of these past due but not 
impaired trade receivables by overdue date is as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Past due by
0 to 30 days 23,820 143,703
31 to 60 days 17,807 5,523
61 to 90 days 2,225 –  

43,852 149,226  

(c) As at 31 December 2016, trade receivable of RMB2,378,000 (2015: Nil) were impaired and provided for. During the year ended 31 
December 2016, trade receivables of RMB165,000 (2015: RMB1,806,000) were written off directly.

(d) The Group does not hold any collateral as security for trade receivables.

(e) The carrying amounts of trade receivables approximate their fair values and are denominated in the following currencies:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

RMB 30,015 324,716
USD 44,100 76,546  

74,115 401,262  
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21 DEPOSITS, PREPAYMENTS AND OTHER RECEIVABLES

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Current
Deposits and prepayments (note (a)) 3,056 5,444
Deposits paid for purchases of land use rights and 

buildings (note (c)) – 2,000
Accrued rental income 5,093 5,093
Rental receivable 344 5,535
Others 158 667  

8,651 18,739  

Non-current
Prepayment for commercial buildings (note (b)) 272,360 292,120
Prepayments for construction costs – 4,091
Prepayments for property, plant and equipment and 

land use rights (note (c)) 49,000 –  

321,360 296,211  

Total 330,011 314,950  

Notes:

(a) As at 31 December 2015, the balance included a prepayment for rental expense to a related company, which is beneficially owned by 
Mr. Chen Fanglin, amounting to RMB144,000.

(b) On 23 November 2015, the Group entered into a sales and purchase agreement with an independent third party to purchase 
commercial buildings and the respective land use rights with a total consideration of RMB292,120,000 in Anhui, the PRC. During 
the year ended 31 December 2016, a balance of RMB19,760,000 has been refunded to the Group due to modification of floor plan 
during construction. The construction of the commercial buildings and the transfer of ownership of these assets are expected to be 
completed in year 2017.

(c) On 28 November 2014, the Group entered into a sales and purchase agreement (“the agreement”) with an independent third party 
(“the seller”) to purchase certain land use rights and buildings in Quanzhou, the PRC, with a total consideration of RMB98,000,000. 
On 3 December 2014, the Group paid RMB49,000,000 as a prepayment to the seller. During the year ended 31 December 2015, the 
seller was not able to complete the registration of transfer of the land use rights and buildings to the Group. On 25 August 2015, the 
seller refunded RMB47,000,000 to the Group but refused to refund the remaining balance of RMB2,000,000 to the Group.

During the year ended 31 December 2015, the seller filed a dispute case to the People’s Court of Quangang (“the court”) in respect 
of this transaction against the Group. Subsequently, the Group filed a defense to the court on 30 October 2015. No legal proceeding 
has been commenced.

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the dispute has been resolved and management expects that this transaction will be 
completed in 2017. As at 31 December 2016, the Group paid a total of RMB49,000,000 as a prepayment to the seller.

(d) The carrying amounts of the Group’s deposits and other receivables approximate their fair values due to short maturity date and are 
mainly denominated in RMB.
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22 PLEDGED DEPOSITS, BANK DEPOSITS AND CASH AND CASH EQUIVALENTS

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Pledged deposits (note (a)) – 1,840
Cash and cash equivalents 817,213 720,178  

817,213 722,018  

Notes:

(a) The pledged deposits were held in designated bank accounts mainly for the issuance of bills payable to suppliers (Note 26).

(b) The carrying amounts of pledged deposits and cash and cash equivalents of the Group are denominated in the following currencies:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

RMB 816,961 717,195
HKD 251 4,819
USD 1 4  

817,213 722,018  

(c) The conversion of RMB denominated balances into foreign currencies and the remittance of cash out of PRC are subject to relevant 
rules and regulation of foreign exchange control promulgated by the PRC government.
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23 ASSETS CLASSIFIED AS HELD FOR SALE

On 30 September 2014, Quanzhou Allen Light Industry Co., Ltd., a wholly owned subsidiary of the Group, 
was notified by the local government of Quanzhou that certain land use rights and properties will be resumed 
for redevelopment.

The compensation of these properties and land use rights will be RMB109,552,000 according to the 
correspondences from the local government of Quanzhou and these properties and land use rights are 
classified as assets held for sale. The valuation was determined based on the compensation and was 
categorized in level 2 of the fair value hierarchy. During the year ended 31 December 2016, certain assets 
amounted to RMB19,800,000 have been resumed by the local government of Quanzhou. As at 31 December 
2016, the directors have reviewed the fair value of the assets classified as held for sale and considered that 
there are no significant changes in the underlying assumptions for the compensation and the fair value of the 
assets classified as held for sale.

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

At 1 January 109,552 109,552
Disposal (19,800) –  

At 31 December 89,752 109,552  

As at December 2016, certain assets classified as held for sale were pledged as securities for bank borrowings 
(2015: bank borrowings and bills payable) made available to the Group (Notes 26 and 27).
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24 SHARE CAPITAL AND SHARE PREMIUM

Number of 
ordinary shares

Nominal value of 
ordinary shares

(thousands) HKD   

Authorized:
At 31 December 2015 and 31 December 2016 10,000,000 1,000,000  

Number of 
ordinary 

shares

Nominal 
value of 

ordinary 
shares

Equivalent 
nominal 
value of 

ordinary 
shares

Share 
premium Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000      

Issued and fully paid:
At 1 January 2015 1,800,000,000 180 141 483,413 483,554
Issue of new shares upon 

placement (Note (i)) 180,000,000 18 14 184,306 184,320
Share issue expenses – – – (2,098) (2,098)     

At 31 December 2015 1,980,000,000 198 155 665,621 665,776
Issue of new shares (Note (ii)) 50,000,000 5 5 27,873 27,878     

At 31 December 2016 2,030,000,000 203 160 693,494 693,654     

Notes:

(i) On 6 July 2015, the Company completed a placement of 180,000,000 ordinary shares of HKD0.0001 each at a placing price of 
HKD1.28 per share to independent third parties. Accordingly, 180,000,000 ordinary shares of HKD0.0001 each were issued at a 
premium of HKD1.2799 each and the premium on issue of shares of HKD230,382,000 (equivalent to RMB184,306,000) was credited 
to the share premium account.

(ii) On 9 December 2016, the Company issued 50,000,000 ordinary shares of HKD0.0001 each at a premium of HKD0.6299 which form 
part of the consideration for the acquisition of an associate during the year. The premium on issue of these shares of HKD31,495,000 
(equivalent to RMB27,873,000) was credited to the share premium account.

25 CAPITAL AND STATUTORY RESERVES

(a) Capital reserve represents the cash contributions to the Group through capital injection to the 
companies now comprising the Group by the controlling shareholder.

(b) In accordance with the Laws of the PRC on Enterprises Operated Exclusively with Foreign Capital and 
the Articles of Association of the Group’s subsidiaries incorporated in the PRC, an appropriation to the 
statutory reserves has to be made prior to profit distribution to the investor. The appropriation to the 
statutory reserve of these foreign investment enterprises shall be no less than 10% of the net profit until 
the accumulated appropriation exceeds 50% of the registered capital.
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26 TRADE AND OTHER PAYABLES

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Trade payables 20,350 127,366
Bills payable – 4,600  

Trade and bills payables 20,350 131,966
Other tax payable 809 4,629
Salary and welfare payables 4,230 12,853
Retention fee payables 4,516 9,393
Deposits received for assets classified as held for sale – 9,011
Interest payables 2,286 –
Amount due to the immediate holding company (Note 32) 1,119 –
Others 4,077 5,568  

37,387 173,420  

Notes:

(a) The aging analysis of the Group’s trade payables and bills payable is as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

0 to 30 days 10,169 49,938
31 to 60 days 6,930 34,353
61 to 90 days 2,733 47,655
Over 90 days 518 20  

20,350 131,966  

(b) The carrying amounts of the Group’s trade and other payables approximate their fair values due to short maturity date and are 
denominated in the following currencies:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

RMB 30,877 170,693
HKD 6,510 2,727  

37,387 173,420  

(c) As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s bills payables were secured by pledged deposits, certain assets classified as held for sale, 
guarantee of Mr. Chen Fanglin and a related party (Notes 22, 23 and 32).
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27 BORROWINGS

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Non-current
Bonds – unsecured (note (a)) 138,071 –  

Current
Bank borrowings – secured (note (b)) 38,000 49,000  

Total borrowings 176,071 49,000  

An analysis of the Group’s borrowings into principal amounts is as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Bonds – unsecured (note (a)) 142,484 –
Bank borrowings – secured (note (b)) 38,000 49,000  

180,484 49,000
Adjusted by: unamortized loan arrangement fees (4,413) –  

176,071 49,000  

Notes:

(a) Bonds comprise principal amounts of:

(i) HKD7,000,000 (approximately RMB6,265,000) due in 2023 issued by the Company to an independent third party in March 
2016. The bond is unsecured and bears interest at a fixed rate of 6% per annum;

(ii) HKD148,200,000 (approximately RMB132,639,000) due in 2019 issued by the Company to an independent third party in April 
2016. The bond is unsecured and bears interest at a fixed rate of 7% per annum; and

(iii) HKD4,000,000 (approximately RMB3,580,000) due in 2024 issued by the Company to an independent third party in July 2016. 
The bond is unsecured and bears interest at a fixed rate of 6% per annum.

(b) As at 31 December 2016 and 2015, the bank borrowings are either repayable within one year or repayable on demand and with 
floating interest rate. The Group’s bank borrowings approximate their fair values due to short maturity date.

As at 31 December 2016, the Group’s bank borrowings were secured by certain property, plant, and equipment and assets classified 
as held for sale (Notes 15 and 23).

As at 31 December 2015, the Group’s bank borrowings were secured by certain property, plant, and equipment, assets classified as 
held for sale, guarantee of Mr. Chen Fanglin and related parties (Notes 15, 23 and 32).
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27 BORROWINGS (Continued)

As at 31 December 2016, the effective interest rate of the Group’s borrowings is 7.66% (2015: 6.51%).

The carrying values of the borrowings are denominated in the following currencies:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

HKD 138,071 –
RMB 38,000 49,000  

176,071 49,000  

28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX

Deferred income tax assets and liabilities are offset when there is a legally enforceable right to set off and the 
deferred income taxes relate to the same tax jurisdiction.

The movement on the net deferred income tax is as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

At 1 January (11,386) (11,517)
Credited to the profit or loss (Note 12) 6,009 131  

At 31 December (5,377) (11,386)  
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28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

The movements in deferred income tax assets and liabilities during the year without taking into 
consideration the offsetting of balances are as follows:

Deferred income tax assets

Accelerated 
accounting 

depreciation Others Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000    

At 1 January 2015 814 598 1,412
Credited to the profit or loss 533 – 533   

At 31 December 2015 1,347 598 1,945
Credited to the profit or loss 353 158 511   

At 31 December 2016 1,700 756 2,456   

Deferred income tax assets are recognized for tax losses carried forward to the extent that the realization 
of the related tax benefit through future taxable profits is probable. The Group did not recognize deferred 
income tax assets of RMB23,354,000 (2015: RMB2,845,000) in respect of losses amounting to RMB97,512,000 
(2015: RMB11,380,000) that can be carried forward against future taxable income as at 31 December 2016. In 
respect of the losses, RMB3,245,000, RMB8,135,000 and RMB86,132,000 are expiring in year 2019, 2020 and 
2021 respectively.
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28 DEFERRED INCOME TAX (Continued)

Deferred income tax liabilities

Undistributed 
earnings

Fair value gain 
on investment 

property Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000    

At 1 January 2015 (10,006) (2,923) (12,929)
Charged to the profit or loss (327) (75) (402)   

At 31 December 2015 (10,333) (2,998) (13,331)
Credited to the profit or loss 2,500 2,998 5,498   

At 31 December 2016 (7,833) – (7,833)   

As at 31 December 2016, management is of the view that undistributed earnings totaling RMB993,750,000 
(2015: RMB999,614,000) are for re-investment in the PRC and not for distribution. Accordingly, deferred 
income tax liabilities of RMB49,688,000 (2015: RMB49,981,000) have not been recognized for the 
withholding tax that would be payable upon distribution of profits of the subsidiaries in the PRC.

The analysis of deferred tax assets and liabilities is as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Deferred income tax assets
– to be recovered after more than 12 months 1,700 1,347
– to be recovered within 12 months 756 598  

2,456 1,945
Deferred income tax liabilities
– to be settled after more than 12 months (7,833) (13,331)  

Deferred income tax liabilities – net (5,377) (11,386)  



Annual Report 2016 CHINA CREATIVE GLOBAL HOLDINGS LIMITED100

NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

29 SUBSIDIARIES

The following is a list of the principal subsidiaries at 31 December 2016:

Name

Place and date of 
incorporation/
establishment Principal activities Legal status

Registered/
paid up 
capital

Effective 
interest held 

as at 

2016 2015       

Directly held by the Company:
China Prosper Int’l Ltd.
華茂國際有限公司

British Virgin 
Islands (the “BVI”)
30 December 2009

Investment holding Limited liability 
company

USD50,000 100% 100%

Indirectly held by the Company:
Allen International Holdings Limited 
亞倫國際控股有限公司

Hong Kong,
10 February 2010

Investment holding Limited liability 
company

HKD10,000 100% 100%

Allen China Co., Ltd.
亞倫（中國）有限公司

PRC,
2 September 1993

Manufacturing and 
sale of home decor 
products and 
properties rental

Foreign investment 
enterprise with 
limited liability

RMB159,099,845 100% 100%

Allen Electronics Co., Ltd. Fujian
福建亞倫電子電器科技有限公司

PRC,
19 February 1997

Manufacturing and sale 
of electric fireplace

Foreign investment 
enterprise with 
limited liability

HKD835,000,000 100% 100%

Quanzhou Allen Light Industry Co., Ltd.
泉州亞倫輕工有限公司

PRC,
27 September 2001

Manufacturing and 
sale of home decor 
products

Foreign investment 
enterprise with 
limited liability

USD10,000,000 100% 100%

Allen Electronics Co., Ltd. Anhui
安徽亞倫電子科技有限公司

PRC,
16 January 2014

Manufacturing and sale 
of electric fireplace

Foreign investment 
enterprise with 
limited liability

RMB100,000,000 100% 100%
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30 CASH GENERATED FROM OPERATIONS

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

(Loss)/profit before income tax (93,374) 367,224
Adjustments for:

– Amortization of land use rights 4,311 3,496
– Loss on disposal of property, plant and equipment – 125
– Depreciation of property, plant and equipment 25,129 20,262
– Interest income (3,972) (5,068)
– Finance costs 16,254 3,612
– Foreign exchange loss/(gain) on operating activities 775 (5,493)
– Impairment provision of property, 

plant and equipment 54,039 –
– Bad debts written-off 165 1,806
– Provision for doubtful debts 2,378 –
– Inventories written-off 6,644 –
– Fair value loss/(gain) on investment property 12,000 (300)
– Gain upon lapse of warrants – (18,000)
– Share of loss of an associate 533 –

Changes in working capital:
– Decrease in inventories 13,355 18,413
– Decrease in trade receivables 329,540 173,493
– Decrease in deposits, prepayments and other 

receivables 17,988 38,970
– Decrease in pledged deposits 1,840 3,760
– Decrease in trade and other payables (138,319) (162,031)  

Cash generated from operations 249,286 440,269  

31 COMMITMENTS

(a) Capital commitments

Capital expenditure contracted for at the end of the year but not yet incurred is as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Contracted but not provided for
– Land use rights 17,210 –
– Property, plant and equipment 31,790 13,145  

49,000 13,145  
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31 COMMITMENTS (Continued)

(b) Operating leases commitments

The Group leases offices and warehouses under non-cancellable operating lease agreements. The lease 
terms are between one to five years.

The future aggregate minimum lease payments under non-cancellable operating leases are as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

No later than one year 858 2,399
Later than one year and no later than five years 156 1,670  

1,014 4,069  

(c) Operating leases (as lessor)

The Group leases out investment property under operating leases. The future aggregate minimum lease 
rental receivable under non-cancellable operating leases in respect of investment property as follows:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

No later than one year 22,002 12,892
Later than one year and no later than five years 37,534 36,988
Later than five years 107,421 117,077  

166,957 166,957  

32 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS

As at 31 December 2016, the Group is controlled by China Wisdom Asia Limited (incorporated in the BVI), 
which owns 53% of the Company’s shares. The remaining 47% of the shares are widely held. The ultimate 
parent of the Group is Central Profit Group Limited (incorporated in the BVI). The ultimate controlling 
party of the Group is Mr. Chen Fanglin.

The directors of the Company are of the view that the following companies were related parties that had 
transactions or balances with the Group during the year:

Person/Company Relationship with the Group  

Ms. Chen Xiangqun Spouse of Mr. Chen Fanglin
Quanzhou Xinliya Trading Co., Ltd. 

(泉州欣利亞商貿有限公司)
Beneficially owned by Mr. Chen Fanglin

Quanzhou Meiya Property Management Co., Ltd
(泉州美亚商业管理有限公司)

Beneficially owned by Mr. Chen Fanglin
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32 RELATED-PARTY TRANSACTIONS (Continued)

(a) Purchase of services

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Rental expense (note) 792 864  

Note:

It represents rental expense of a home furnishing concept shop paid or payable to Quanzhou Xinliya Trading Co., Ltd and was 
determined at prevailing market rate of similar shops nearby.

(b) Key management compensation

Key management includes directors and other key management of the Group. The compensation paid or 
payable to key management for employee services is shown below:

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

Directors’ fees 308 291
Basic salaries, housing allowances, other allowances 

and benefits in kind 4,734 4,808
Social security and pension costs 1,055 1,077  

6,097 6,176  

(c) Guarantee by Mr. Chen Fanglin

As at 31 December 2016, certain bank borrowings (2015: bank borrowings and bills payables) are 
secured by Mr. Chen Fanglin.

(d) Guarantee by Quanzhou Meiya Property Management Co., Ltd. and Ms. Chen Xiangqun

As at 31 December 2016, certain bank borrowings are secured by Ms. Chen Xiangqun.

As at 31 December 2015, certain bank borrowings and bills payables are secured by Quanzhou Meiya 
Property Management Co., Ltd. and Ms. Chen Xiangqun.

(e) Balance with immediate holding company

As at 31 December 2016, the amount due to the immediate holding company is unsecured, non-interest 
bearing and repayable on demand. The amount is denominated in HKD and approximate the fair value.
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33 BALANCE SHEET AND RESERVE MOVEMENT OF THE COMPANY

2016 2015
RMB’000 RMB’000   

ASSETS
Non-current asset

Investment in a subsidiary 1,286,724 1,286,724  

Current assets
Amounts due from subsidiaries 282,592 162,638
Cash and cash equivalents 102 48  

282,694 162,686  

Total assets 1,569,418 1,449,410  

EQUITY
Share capital 160 155
Share premium 693,494 665,621
Reserves (note) 732,318 780,977  

Total equity 1,425,972 1,446,753  

LIABILITIES
Non-current liabilities

Borrowings 138,071 –  

Current liabilities
Other payables 5,375 2,657  

Total liabilities 143,446 2,657  

Total equity and liabilities 1,569,418 1,449,410  

The balance sheet of the Company was approved by the Board of Directors on 28 March 2017 and was signed 
on its behalf.

Chen Fanglin Chen Hongming
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33 B A L A N C E S H E E T A N D R E S E R V E M O V E M E N T O F T H E C O M P A N Y 
(Continued)

Note:

Reserve movement of the Company

Capital reserve Retained earnings Total
RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000    

As at 1 January 2015 715,521 67,430 782,951
Total comprehensive income
Profit for the year – 54,186 54,186

Transaction with owners:
Dividends – (56,160) (56,160)   

As at 31 December 2015 715,521 65,456 780,977   

As at 1 January 2016 715,521 65,456 780,977
Total comprehensive loss
Loss for the year – (23,236) (23,236)

Transactions with owners:
Dividends – (25,423) (25,423)   

As at 31 December 2016 715,521 16,797 732,318   
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34 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS

(a) Directors’ emoluments

The details of directors’ emoluments are set out below:

For the year ended 31 December 2016:

As Director (note (i))

As 
Management 

(note (ii))  

Name of Director Fees Salary
Discretionary 

bonuses

Employer’s 
contribution 

to pension 
scheme

Employee 
benefits Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000       

Executive directors
Mr. Chen Fanglin – 630 – 415 630 1,675
Mr. Chen Hongming – 159 50 53 786 1,048
Mr. Shen Jianzhong – 159 50 52 785 1,046
Mr. Chen Jiang (note v) – – – – – –
Mr. Xu Qiang (note v) – – – – – –

Non-executive directors
Mr. Dai Jianping 103 – – – – 103
Mr. Ng Wing Keung 103 – – – – 103
Ms. Sun Kam Ching 103 – – – – 103      

309 948 100 520 2,201 4,078      
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34 BENEFITS AND INTERESTS OF DIRECTORS (Continued)

(a) Directors’ emoluments (Continued)

For the year ended 31 December 2015:

As Director (note (i))

As 
Management 

(note (ii))  

Name of Director Fees Salary
Discretionary 

bonuses

Employer’s 
contribution 

to pension 
scheme

Employee 
benefits Total

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000       

Executive directors
Mr. Chen Fanglin – 623 – 415 623 1,661
Mr. Chen Hongming – 158 50 53 780 1,041
Mr. Shen Jianzhong – 157 50 52 780 1,039

Non-executive directors
Mr. Dai Jianping 97 – – – – 97
Mr. Ng Wing Keung 97 – – – – 97
Ms. Sun Kam Ching 97 – – – – 97      

291 938 100 520 2,183 4,032      

Notes:

(i) The amounts represented emoluments paid or payable in respect of a person’s services as a director, whether of the Company 
or its subsidiaries undertakings.

(ii) The amounts represented emoluments paid or payable in respect of a person’s other services in connection with the 
management of the affairs of the Company or its subsidiaries undertakings and included salaries, discretionary bonuses and 
pension costs.

(iii) No director has waived or agreed to waive any emoluments during the year (2015: Nil).

(iv) During the year, no emoluments were paid by the Group to the directors as an inducement to join or upon joining the Group 
or as compensation for loss of office (2015: Nil).

(v) These directors have been appointed on 16 February 2017.

(b) Directors’ retirement benefits and termination benefits

None of the directors received or will receive any retirement benefits or termination benefits during the 
year (2015: Nil).

(c) Consideration provided to third parties for making available directors’ services

During the year ended 31 December 2016, the Company did not pay consideration to any third parties 
for making available directors’ services (2015: Nil).
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A summary of the results and of the assets and liabilities of the Group for the five financial years, as extracted 
from the audited financial statements and the Company’s prospectus dated 10 December 2013, is set out below:

RESULTS

Year ended 31 December
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000      

Revenue 349,744 1,281,926 1,409,006 1,195,522 969,026
Cost of sales (257,246) (808,514) (840,026) (666,072) (540,829)     

Gross profit 92,498 473,412 568,980 529,450 428,197
Selling and distribution costs (27,466) (52,099) (64,111) (59,851) (53,504)
Administrative expenses (79,467) (84,892) (78,651) (83,002) (42,995)
Impairment as provision of property, 

plant and machinery (54,039) – – – –
Other income 4,662 10,747 13,777 6,482 2,613
Other (losses)/gains-net (12,775) 23,668 6,620 – –     

Operating (loss)/profit (76,587) 370,836 446,615 393,079 334,311
Finance costs (16,254) (3,612) (2,420) (4,481) (2,992)
Share of loss of an associate (533) – – – –     

(Loss)/profit before income tax (93,374) 367,224 444,195 388,598 331,319

Income tax expense (2,144) (68,231) (89,282) (85,369) (69,690)     

(Loss)/profit for the year attributable 
to owners of the Company (95,518) 298,993 354,913 303,229 261,629     

(Loss)/earnings per share
– Basic and diluted (RMB) (0.05) 0.16 0.20 0.21 0.18     

ASSETS, LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

As at 31 December
2016 2015 2014 2013 2012

RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000 RMB’000      

TOTAL ASSETS 2,474,997 2,600,661 2,382,667 1,921,627 1,164,118
TOTAL LIABILITIES 221,532 254,133 461,194 301,920 359,641
TOTAL EQUITY 2,253,465 2,346,528 1,921,473 1,619,707 804,477
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